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Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Managing Director)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin (appointed on 9 September 2022)
Professor Lo Chung Mau (resigned on 10 June 2022)

Company Secretary

Ms. Tong On Ni (appointed on 23 March 2023)
Ms. Wong Lai Yung (resigned on 1 November 2022)

Authorized Representatives

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Audit Committee
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan*
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin (appointed on 9 September 2022)
Professor Lo Chung Mau (resigned on 10 June 2022)

Nomination Committee
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie*

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon*

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

*  Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
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Corporate Information

Legal Advisers on Bermuda Law

Conyers, Dill and Pearman

29th Floor One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Share Registrars and Transfer Office

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrars and
Transfer Office

Tricor Standard Limited
W

Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Registered Office

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of
Business

Flat B, 23/F., Chaiwan Industrial Centre
20 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2103 7288

Fax: (852) 2214 9357

Website: www.allan.com.hk

Stock Code

684
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Financial Highlights HMERE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—BHLFE

2023 2022 Change
—E-= =gd== b=
HK$°000 HK$’000 %
FET FET
Revenue Sy 413,332 783,192 -47.2%
Gross Profit EF 16,727 51,514 -67.5%
Gross Profit% ER=E 4.0% 6.6%
Net Loss R (62,053) (26,995) 129.9%
Net Loss% FEBRE -15.0% -3.4%
HK cents HK cents %
b3 BN
Loss per share S EE (18.6) (8.1) 129.6%
Dividend Per Share — Interim RS —FH - 2
Dividend Per Share — Final RS — RHE - 2
Dividend Per Share — Total BIRARE — 4% - 4 -100.0%
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—H
2023 2022 Change
=2 SEE | || ZEAEE b
Notes Days Days
Hi et x A
Inventories Turnover Days FEREXH il 63 47 16
Trade Receivables Turnover Days [EUWE SR EE K& &2, 64 v (13)
Trade Payables Turnover Days FEfTE 5 RN AE RHK E3 47 41 6
Gearing Ratio BEAGELXR *4 1.6% 1.9% -0.3%
Return on Equity [i% 38 4 7 0] R 2R B -5.9% -2.3% -3.6%
*1. Inventories turnover days is equal to the average of the opening 27, FERAEXSRAERNAVRBEAREFEE LI

and closing inventories divided by the cost of sales and multiplied
by the number of days for the year
2, Trade receivables turnover days is equal to trade receivables 2
divided by the revenue and multiplied by the number of days for
the year
*3.  Trade Payable turnover days is equal to trade payables divided by 2l
the cost of sales and multiplied by the number of days for the year
*4, Gearing ratio is equal to the total borrowings divided by the equity 4.
*5. Return on Equity is equal to the net loss after tax for the year *5,
divided by the average of opening and closing equity

BIASHERABRAZFRE

EWE ZEREDERBAENE 5 ERIER
BRAERBEBRARFERI

ENEZEXBAEREAENENE S ERX
BRABEXRABRNEFRE
BEABHXTIREEREBGRIARRER
PRt M R AR E R AEE R R A
PEIENEEX F RSk o

Allan International Holdings Limited Z: @ Bl &£ E B[R A 7



Letter to Shareholders

Management Discussion And Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s sales turnover
decreased by 47% to HK$413.3 million (2022: HK$783.2
million) and the consolidated net loss was HK$62.1 million
(2022: HK$27.0 million). In view of the adverse global business
environment and the loss situation of the Group brought about
by the abrupt downturn in sales turnover, there was indication
of impairment of property, plant and equipment of the Group.
An assessment for impairment was conducted to assess the
recoverable amount with reference to the higher of the assets’
fair value less costs to disposal and value in use. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. As a result, a provision
of impairment to property, plant and equipment of HK$24.9
million had been made. Basic loss per share of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 was HK18.6 cents (2022: HKS8.1
cents). The Board of Directors has resolved not to recommend
any dividend (2022:
dividend of HK2 cents per share) for the year ended 31 March
2023.

interim dividend of HK2 cents and final

Business Review

The Group is engaged in design, manufacturing and trading of a
wide range of household electrical appliances.

The financial year 2023 had been extremely challenging and
difficult. Global situations and business environment remained
turbulent and unpredictable.
high energy costs, geopolitical uncertainties under Russia-

Inflation, rising interest rates,
Ukraine conflict and US-China tension had caused demand and
customer sentiments to weaken at an alarming rate. All these
led to retailers cutting back on orders and reducing inventory
levels sharply. As such, our Group had to deal with abrupt order
deferrals and cancellations reluctantly. The enormous drop in
sales turnover, particularly in the Europe market, had disrupted
the economy of scale in our operations and impacted on the
margins tremendously.
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Letter to Shareholders

Business Review (continueq)

Sales turnover decreased by 47% to HK$413.3 million.
Sales turnover decreased across all markets. The drop in
sales turnover to Europe was most severe, dropping by 76%
to HK$90.2 million representing 22% of the Group’s sales
turnover. Sales turnover to America decreased by 20% to
HK$243.8 million representing 59% of the Group’s sales
turnover. Sales turnover to Asia decreased by 5% to HK$70.0
million representing 17% of the Group’s sales turnover. Sales
turnover to other markets decreased by 63% to HK$9.5 million
representing 2% of the Group’s sales turnover.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 decreased by
68% to HK$17 million. Gross profit margin decreased from 6.6%
to 4.0%. COVID-19 outbreaks in certain provinces or cities in
the PRC from time to time during the financial year resulted in
delay in transportation of raw materials and parts due to elevated
and strict safety controls and measures, resulting in higher
transportation costs and expenses. The increase in raw material
costs, particularly electronic components due to shortage in
supply, increase in electricity costs and high staff cost level in
relation to the drastic drop in sales turnover have resulted in
reduced margins.

The deferral and cancellation of sales orders resulted in a
huge decrease in sales turnover which adversely impacted on
efficiency due to loss in economy of scale. Although the Group
has taken immediate cost control and streamlining measures
to trim down the overhead expenses, the pace of the downturn
in sales turnover was much quicker than expected. Selling and
distribution expenses decreased by 33% to HK$16.3 million.
As a percentage to sales turnover, selling and distribution
expenses increased from 3.1% to 4.0% compared to last year.
Administrative expenses decreased by 15% to HK$81.5 million.
As a percentage to sales turnover, administrative expenses
increased from 12.2% to 19.7% compared to last year.
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Letter to Shareholders

Business Review (continueq)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received subsidies
of approximately HK$1,559,000 through the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administration Region and approximately HK$1,543,000 through
government assistance and tax refunds in the PRC. For the
year ended 31 March 2022, the group did not receive any such
subsidies.

At 31 March 2023, the investment property located in Wanchai,
Hong Kong was revaluated at HK$280 million (2022: HK$285
million) resulting in a decrease in fair value of HK$5 million for the
year.

At 31 March 2023, the investment property located in the
PRC at Hui Nam Hi-Tech Industrial Park was revaluated at
RMB202,600,000 (HK$232,990,000) (2022: RMB202,400,000
(HK$248,952,000)) resulting in an increase in fair value of
HK$281,000 and a translation loss of HK$16,243,000 for the
period.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the rental and management
fee income generated from the investment properties in Hong
Kong and the PRC was approximately HK$26.3 million (2022:
HK$27.2 million).

In view of the adverse global business environment and the loss
situation of the Group brought about by the abrupt downturn
in sales turnover, there was indication of impairment of
property, plant and equipment of the Group. An assessment for
impairment was conducted to assess the recoverable amount
with reference to the higher of the assets’ fair value less costs
to disposal and value in use. An impairment loss is recognized
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. As a result, the Group made a provision of
impairment to property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$24.9 million.
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Letter to Shareholders

Business Review (continueq)

Net loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 was HK$62.1 million
(2022: HK$27.0 million). Net loss margin worsened from 3.4% to
15.0% compared to last year.

Business Outlook

The visibility for the macro-economic and business outlook is
still extremely uncertain and limited. We expect the adverse
factors such as inflation, higher interest rates, weak consumer
sentiments and geopolitical uncertainties under Russia-Ukraine
conflict and US-China tension would continue and linger on in
financial year 2024.

To deal with the challenges during this difficult time, the
Group will focus on stringent cost control, streamlining and
consolidation across all aspects of operations to improve in
efficiency. The Group has a strong cash position with low gearing
ratio. The overall financial position of the Group remains sound
and solid. We will stay vigilant and versatile in our manufacturing
capacity and resources planning in response to fluctuations
in market demand. We will seek growth opportunities through
new customers and new product categories as well as the
mainland China market and online sales channels. We will also
look for business opportunities to create higher value for our
shareholders.

With our prudent and pragmatic business approach, financial
strength and commitment to excel, we will strive on and tread
cautiously to ride through the current and coming difficulties and
challenges.
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Letter to Shareholders

Liquidity And Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of HK$1,248.9
million (2022: HK$1,412.6 million) which was financed by current
liabilities of HK$194.0 million (2022: HK$256.9 million), long-
term liabilities of HK$47.5 million (2022: HK$53.1 million) and
shareholders’ equity of HK$1,007.3 million (2022: HK$1,102.5
million).

The Group continued to maintain a strong balance sheet and a
healthy liquidity position. As at 31 March 2023, the Group held
HK$554.3 million (2022: HK$504.6 million) in cash and bank
deposits. They were mainly placed in Renminbi and US dollar
short-term deposits, except for temporary balances held in other
currencies as required pending specific payments. For the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Group generated net cash inflow from
operating activities of HK$54.1 million (2022: outflow of HK$32.0
million). As at the same date, total borrowings were HK$15.8
million (2022: HK$20.9 million) and the gearing ratio (ratio of total
borrowings to shareholders’ equity) was 1.6% (2022: 1.9%).

We continue to apply stringent control over the working capital
cycle. The inventories balance as at 31 March 2023 was
HK$41.1 million (2022: HK$95.5 million). Inventories decreased
by HK$54.4 million and inventories turnover increased from 47
days to 63 days. The trade receivables balance as at 31 March
2023 was HK$73.0 million (2022: HK$165.6 million). Trade
receivables decreased by HK$92.6 million and trade receivables
turnover decreased from 77 days to 64 days. The trade payables
balance as at 31 March 2023 was HK$51.2 million (2022:
HK$82.5 million). Trade payables decreased by HK$31.3 million
and trade payables turnover increased from 41 days to 47 days.

B R B A

RBESRMBEER

R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H ' AEBZHEE
A12184,890B B L (ZFZZF : 14{81,260
BT A2 RRERERDHEE1189,4008
BIL(ZZT——F : 2(85,6908/E L) - KA
BE4,7508 B (=T _2F : 531088 L) &
RE#EZ10IE7I0EBT(ZT_F : 1148
2508%7T) ©

AEBBERFUEEREBRZEAERRBES
RN RZBE-_=F=ZA=+—0 ' A&£EH
BEE RIBITHERSES,4308 8 (=T ==
F 51846088 L) - RAXNBENRMA
NEAM B E 2 BREEHIN - REDTFAA
RERETEREEFERFO - HE_T_=F=
AZ+—RHLEEE  AEBEETHELENR
EMRANFES 410BEB L (ZE2F : /il
3,2008% L) - BB ' EER%EA1,58088
FT(ZZT-—F :2,00&8%7w) MEEEAE
LE(AEEHRFESEZLE)B1.6%(=ZF
11.9%) °

AEEEBEHZES AN EMEREERE - R
“E-=#=A=+—H 77¢ 1
EBT(ZT-__F:955088 L) FT&4
B 05,4408 B RIF B A E R E H47RIE
MEEIXK - M-_TB-_=%F=A=+—8 " &
WE SRR AEHA7,3008B (=T =
1186,5608 B 7L) - B E KRR 29,260
EETREWEZEREFASRIRT7RRLE
B4k - N-_E-_=F=A=+—8 EHES
R R5,1208BT(ZF =24 : 8,250
) - BNBEZERFEA3,1308 B M IE
NESEFEERBNANRIEMELTRK o

Annual Report 2022/2023 —E - _—FZ _—_E_=FFf

9



Letter to Shareholders

Liquidity And Financial Resources
(Continued)

Funding for day-to-day operational working capital and capital
expenditures are to be serviced by internal cash flow and
available banking facilities. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the group invested HK$4.1 million (2022: HK$12.9 million) in
plant and machinery, moulds and tools, equipment, computer
systems and other tangible assets for expansion and upgrading
of our manufacturing facilities. The Group’s capital expenditures
were funded by internal resources and bank loans. With a healthy
financial position and available banking facilities, the Group
is able to provide sufficient financial resources for our current
commitments, working capital requirements, further expansions
of the Group’s business operations and future investment
opportunities, as and when required.

The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities and business
transactions were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars,
Renminbis. Currently the Group does not implement hedging
activity to hedge against foreign currency exposure. However,
we will closely monitor foreign currency exposure and consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Employee And Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed approximately 1,540
employees (2022: 2,000). The majority of our employees work
in the PRC. The Group remunerated our employees based on
their performance, experiences and prevailing market rates while
performance bonuses are granted on a discretionary basis.
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Letter to Shareholders

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere appreciation to our employees, shareholders
and business associates for their continual contribution and
support throughout the year.

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2023
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, aged 65, was appointed as
Chairman of the Group on 17 March 2017 and joined the
Group in 1984. She obtained a degree in Bachelor of Science
from Kingston University London, England. She is responsible
for formulating the Group’s overall strategic planning and
development.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie is the sister of Mr. Cheung Shu
Wan, the Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an
Executive Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. She is also the aunt of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager of Allan
Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Ms. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company.
She is also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan
Investment Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the
Company. As at 31 March 2023, according to the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Ms. Cheung had
personal interest in 600,000 shares and The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Ms. Cheung and other
family members other than spouse) directly and indirectly had
interest in 154,349,960 shares. Details of her interests are set
out in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this
report.

Cheung Shu Wan, aged 62, is the Managing Director of the
Group and joined the Group in 1983. He obtained a degree in
Bachelor of Science from the University of London, England. He
is responsible for the sales & marketing functions and the overall
manufacturing operations of the Group. He also assists the
Chairman in corporate strategic planning and development.
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors (continueq)

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan is the brother of Ms. Cheung Lai Chun,
Maggie, the Chairman, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an
Executive Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. He is also the father of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
the uncle of Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Mr. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company.
He is also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan
Investment Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the
Company. As at 31 March 2023, according to the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
Mr. Cheung had personal interest in 46,779,335 shares and The
Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Mr.
Cheung and other family members other than spouse) directly
and indirectly had interest in 154,349,960 shares. Details of his
interests are set out in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” of this report.

Cheung Lai See, Sophie, aged 60, is an Executive Director of
the Group and joined the Group in 1995. She obtained a degree
in Bachelor of Science from the University of London, England
and a master degree in Business Management from the City
University, England. She is responsible for the financial and
administration functions of the Group.

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie is the sister of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. She is also the aunt of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager of Allan
Trading (HK) Company Limited.
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors (continueq)

Ms. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company.
She is also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan
Investment Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the
Company. As at 31 March 2023, according to the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
Ms. Cheung had personal interest in 1,258,000 shares and The
Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which include
Ms. Cheung and other family members other than spouse)
directly and indirectly had interest in 154,349,960 shares of the
Company. Details of her interests are set out in the “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report.

Cheung Shu Sang, William, aged 58, is an Executive Director
and joined the Group in 1994. He holds a BSc degree in
Computing Science and a MSc degree in Management Science,
both at Imperial College London. He also holds a PhD degree
in Automation from the University of Bristol, and is a member
of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. He is in charge of
engineering, research and development functions, and also
management of intellectual property/patent application of the
Group.

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William is the brother of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. He is also the uncle of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager of Allan
Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Dr. Cheung is a Director of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited
and Total Profits Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company.
He is also a director of Allan Investment Co. Ltd., a controlling
shareholder of the Company. As at 31 March 2023, according to
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, Dr. Cheung has personal interest in 900,000 shares
and The Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which
include Dr. Cheung and other family members other than spouse)
directly and indirectly has interest in 154,349,960 shares.
Details of his interests are set out in the “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” of this report.
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, aged 59, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 29 August 2019. She
obtained her bachelor’s degree of accounting and financial
analysis from University of Newcastle Upon Tyne (UK) in 1985
and a postgraduate diploma from University of New England
(Australia) in 1988. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Lai Ah Ming, Leon, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director in 12 December 1995. He is a solicitor
majoring in commercial and property works. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Royal Deluxe Holdings
Limited (stock code:3789) since January 2017.

Lo Chor Cheong, Colin, aged 54, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 9 September 2022. He
is currently a director and shareholder of Foo Hang Jewellery
Limited and its family office. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts
honours degree in Economics from York University and is a
Graduate Gemologist from the Gemological Institute of America.
He is a Hospital Governing Committee member of Grantham
Hospital under Hospital Authority, a director of The Hong
Kong Tuberculosis Chest and Heart Diseases Association, and
an Independent Manager of The Incorporated Management
Committee of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Lo Kon Ting
Memorial College.
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Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management

Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, aged 63, is the Director of Cost
Innovation and joined the Group in 1983. He obtained a degree
in Bachelor of Science from the University of Wales, England. He
is responsible for the purchasing and sourcing functions of the
Group.

Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon is the brother of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director. He is also the father of Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the
Marketing Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
the uncle of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy, the General Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Mr. Cheung is a director of Allan Electric Mfg. Limited, Allan
International Limited, Allan Plastic Mfg. Limited, Allan Trading
(HK) Company Limited, Artreal Manufactory Limited, Ngai
Shing (Far East) Plastic & Metalwares Factory Ltd., all being
subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a director of Allan
Investment Co. Ltd., a controlling shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is one of the beneficiaries of The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Cheung and other
family members other than spouse) which indirectly has interest
in 154,349,960 shares of the Company.

Cheung Man Ho Timothy, aged 32, is the General Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and joined the group
in 2021. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Law from London
School of Economics and Political Sciences and an MSc degree
in Management from Imperial College Business School. He is
responsible for all functions of Allan Trading (H.K.) Company
Limited.

Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy is the son of Mr. Cheung Shu
Wan; the Managing Director; nephew of Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an
Executive Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. He is also a cousin of Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, the
Marketing Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.
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Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management (continued)

Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, aged 32, is the Marketing Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and joined the Group in
2019. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Royal
Holloway, University of London. He is responsible for sales and
marketing function of Allan Trading (H.K.) Company Limited.

Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin is the son of Mr. Cheung Shu Chun,
Simon; the Director of Cost Innovation; nephew of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director. He is also a cousin of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, the General
Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Chung Chi Yin, aged 60, is the Director of Engineering and
joined the Group in 1990. He obtained a degree in Bachelor
of Science in Product Design and Technology from The Open
University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the product
development of the Group.

Kwok Ka Lee, Carrie, aged 55, is the Director of Manufacturing
and joined the Group in 1990. She obtained a degree in Bachelor
of Business (Transport and Logistics Management) from Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology. She is responsible for the
manufacturing management and control function of the Group.

Li Wing Kong, aged 63, is the Director of Quality Assurance
and joined the Group in 2013. He obtained a Higher Diploma
of Electrical Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is
responsible for the Quality Assurance function of the Group.
Tsang Wing Tong, Michelle, aged 56, is the Director of
Manufacturing and joined the Group in 1987. She is responsible
for the manufacturing management and control function of the
Group.

Tong On Ni, aged 35, is the Company Secretary and Finance
and Accounts Manager of the Group and joined the Group in
2023. She holds a bachelor’s degree in professional accounting
and management from Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. Ms. Tong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. She is responsible for the
Company’s secretarial duties and financial and accounting
aspects of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provides corporate management services. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, including an
analysis using financial key performance indicators, the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, important events
affecting the Group and an indication of likely future development
of the Group’s business can be found in “Financial Highlights” set
out on page 4, “Letter to Shareholders” set out on Pages 5 to 11
and “Financial Risk Management objectives and policies” (Note
28b) set out on pages 145 to 158 of this annual report.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The success of the Group depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders.

Customers

The Group’s major customers are companies selling household
electrical appliances under well-known brand names. The Group
maintains long-term and good relationship with its customers.
The Group strives to provide excellent service and quality
products to our customers.

Suppliers

Supply chain is a critical aspect of our operations. The Group
maintains long-term and good relationship with its suppliers.
The Group selects its suppliers based on assessment criteria
including, among others, cost, quality, experience, capability,
capacity, sustainability and ethical behavior. The Group requires
all suppliers to comply with relevant manufacturing and safety
standards. The Group has communicated to all the suppliers
of the Group’s strict compliance to anti-bribery which is also
required to be observed by all suppliers.
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Directors’ Report

Relationship with Stakeholders (continueq)

Employees

Employees are one of the most valuable assets of the Group. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package together with
safe and harmonious workplace. In-house and external trainings
and seminars are provided to employee for their business and
personal development. Recreational activities are organized
periodically and employees are encouraged to participate in
volunteer work. The Group has been nominated and awarded
“Caring Company” since 2007. The Group also received “Happy
Company Award” since 2014 in recognition of our continuous
commitment in building happy workplace culture and a pleasant
working environment for employees.

Shareholders

The Group endeavors to maximize the return to its shareholders.
The Group strives to achieve profit growth and stable dividend
payouts taking into account the business development needs
and financial health of the Group.

Environmental Policies

The Group recognizes the importance of achieving environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to comply with the
relevant environmental standards and policies related to
its business operations in the PRC and Hong Kong. The
manufacturing sites in the PRC and our head office in Hong Kong
are certified with the ISO 14001:2004 standard for environmental
management system. The Group incorporates the Reduce,
Reuse and Recycle principle and implements environmental-
friendly measures in operations and workplaces to achieve
efficient use of resources, waste reduction and energy saving.

The Company will publish its standalone Environmental, Social
and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2023 on
the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (http://www.allan.com.hk) in due course.
Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and others are also set out in the Environmental, Social
and Government Report.
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Directors’ Report

Compliance with laws and regulations

For the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

During the year, none of the Directors was interested in any
business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Results and Dividends
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the

Group’s consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 57.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Major Customers and Suppliers
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20 Allan International Holdings Limited SR s B[R EE G R A 7



Directors’ Report

Major Customers and Suppliers (continued)

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of
a director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 172 of
the annual report.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(@) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2023 comprised
the retained profit of HK$301,576,000 (2022: HK$260,592,000).
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Directors’ Report

Investment Properties

As at 31 March 2023, principal properties held for investment
purposes in Hong Kong are as follows:

Address:

- 9th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong

- Car Parking Space No. 303 on 3rd Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

- Car Parking Space No. 304 on 3rd Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 1561 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

Lot No.:

- The Remaining Portion of Section A of the Inland Lot
No. 2755

- The Remaining Portion of Inland Lot No. 2755
Existing Use: Office rental
Lease Term: Long term

As at 31 March 2023, principal properties held for investment
purposes in the PRC are as follows:

Address:

No. 6, Jin Da Road, Hui Nan Hi-Tech Industrial Park, HuiAo
Highway, Huizhou, Guangdong, The PRC

Existing Use: Factory rental
Lease Term: Long term
Details of the movement in investment properties of the Group

during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$4 million
on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment principally
to expand and upgrade its manufacturing facilities. Details of
these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Directors and Directors’ Service
Contracts

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Managing Director)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin (appointed on 9 September 2022)
Professor Lo Chung Mau (resigned on 10 June 2022)

According to bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms.
Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan and Ms. Choy
Wai Sheun, Susan will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

According to bye-law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Lo
Chor Cheong, Colin was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on 9 September 2022, he shall hold office only
until the first Annual General Meeting of the Company after his
appointment, he will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM
and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

The term of office of each director is the period up to his/her
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-
laws.

None of the directors of the Company proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has any service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

At 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executives and their associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), or as otherwise
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notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as

follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

RRBREE
MR RT :

BMERXSARDE([HRAT])

AAREREE0I10B T ZEER

Number of ordinary shares held

Approximate %

FREERSE of the issued
Personal Other share capital
Name Capacity interest interest Total of the Company
HRARERITREG
®H a4 PN £ HipfEs By ZHRBEDL
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan Beneficial Owner 46,779,335
R4 ExBEAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 201,129,295 60.39%
FEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie Beneficial Owner 600,000
KED T ExBEAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 154,949,960 46.52%
FIEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie Beneficial Owner 1,258,000
REMZ L ExBEAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 155,607,960 46.72%
FEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William Beneficial Owner 900,000
SR TR L ExBEAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 155,249,960 46.61%
FIEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures
(Continued)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (Continued)

Note:

The references to 154,349,960 shares relate to the same block of
shares in the Company, of which 134,821,960 shares are held by
Allan Investment Co. Limited (“AICL”), 12,958,000 shares are held by
Commence Investment Limited (“CIL”) and 6,570,000 shares are held by
Unison Associates Limited (“UAL”). AICL and CIL are owned as to 89%
and 100% respectively by UAL. Credit Suisse Trust Limited as trustee of
The Cheung Lun Family Trust (“Trust”) holds 100% of the shareholding of
UAL and the discretionary beneficiaries of the Trust are, among others,
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Ms. Cheung Lai
See, Sophie and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief
executives, nor their associates, of the Company had, as at
31 March 2023, any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

EEEHRE

EERFETHRAERKRS
MHERD - EEEZERZR

QUL AL I
KRB @)

ADNTDGREME.N0BT 2 Y BR ()
Wit -

FiFTIR R 2 154,349,960 R AR AIAR 15 © BRI
— R o HH 134,821,960 RN AT MIEE
BRAB(RRKRE]FHE © 12,958,000/ 5
MEREERAR([MERE])FE KX6,570,000
P& B% £ B Unison Associates Limited ([ UAL J) #
A DRIEE 289%Em AT FIRE 2100%# =
B UAL# & - Credit Suisse Trust Limited JA The
Cheung Lun Family Trust([Trust]) Z 55 A F 7 #F
H100% 2 UALRRHE « Trustz AT aEZ 2 A (BEAM A
FIARBERLEE  REEZL - REH LT RERE
EEL o

BRUA EFTIRESIN  ARRIZEZREZITHA
BEFHBMBALT WZZE_=F=A=+—
H:  SERAARREBERNR(ERRES
KBS GO EXVER) 2 Ik H - MR sk B
B CBERBEESRHEKRAIEXVIET
RESHIARBMARNRRBRAT » HIRIEE
7 K ER BRI 55 362 iR 7B 7 A& R I Pl & &
it - SARBARESFRIZ R EBBAA R T KB
ROZEEIAR (RREFEEREZSRHE
GO 2 ZEGERE IR AR 2 I%

A)o

=)

Annual Report 2022/2023 —E - _—FZ _—_E_=FFf

25



Directors’ Report

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme which was adopted by the Company
on 8 August 2012 had a term of 10 years and had expired on 8
August 2022. No option has been granted under the share option
scheme since its adoption.

No share option scheme was adopted by the Company
subsequent to the expiration of the above share option scheme.

Arrangement to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than the share option scheme set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Update on directors’ information
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes in information of Directors in the year 2022/2023, the
composition of the Board of Directors (“Board”) has changed.
On 10 June 2022, Professor Lo Chung Mau resigned as an
Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company with effect from
9 September 2022.

Appointment of Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange. The Company considers all of
the independent non-executive directors are independent.
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement and Contracts of
Significance

Allan International Holdings Limited (“AIHL”), entered into
a tenancy agreement with Ardent Investment Limited (“Ardent”),
a subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect
of certain premises on Unit B, 23rd Floor, Chaiwan Industrial
Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly
rent of HK$123,800. The tenancy agreement was for a term
of one year commenced from 1 September 2022. The total
amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this
agreement was HK$1,485,600.

AIHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with Ardent, pursuant to
which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of car park
No. 33, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$3,800 from 1 April
2022 to 31 October 2022 and HK$3,000 from 1 November 2022
to 31 March 2023. The tenancy agreement was a term of one
year commenced from 1 November 2022. The total amount of
rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement
was HK$41,600.

AIHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with Ardent, pursuant to
which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of car park
No. 35, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$3,800 from 1 April
2022 to 31 October 2022 and HK$3,000 from 1 November 2022
to 31 March 2023. The tenancy agreement was a term of one
year commenced from 1 November 2022. The total amount of
rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement
was HK$41,600.
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement and Contracts of
Significance (continued)

Conan Electric Manufacturing Limited (“Conan”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement
with Fair Pacific Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AICL,
a substantial shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which
Fair Pacific Limited granted to Conan a tenancy in respect of
certain land in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial Development
Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a monthly rent
of HK$82,000. The tenancy agreement was for a term of one
year commenced from 1 April 2022. The total amount of rent
paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement was
HK$984,000.

Karan Electric Manufacturing Limited (“Karan”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement
with AICL, pursuant to which AICL granted to Karan a tenancy in
respect of certain premises in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial
Development Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a
monthly rent of HK$75,000. The tenancy agreement was for
a term of one year commenced from 1 April 2022. The total
amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this
agreement was HK$900,000.

The above transactions were approved by the independent non-
executive directors and were conducted on normal commercial
terms in the ordinary course of business of the Group and in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, no transactions, arrangement and
contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director or a connected entity of a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Report

Emolument Policy

Salary package for employees are structured by reference
to market conditions, staff’'s experience and individual
performance. Other benefits offered by the Group included
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund scheme, training
subsidies, share option scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
and decided by the Board, with reference to the market rates,
commitment, contribution and their duties, and responsibilities
with the Group. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in
details in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the directors and eligible employees. Details of the
scheme are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. The share option scheme has expired on 8 August
2022.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of
certain directors and chief executive, the following shareholders
had notified the Company of relevant interests and long/short
positions in the issued share capital of the Company.
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Directors’ Report

Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the shares of

the Company

Name of shareholder

BRREHE

Credit Suisse Trust Limited

UAL

AICL
EfRiRA

Webb, David Michael

=

SE®/E

FERE#)

Preferable Situation Assets Limited Beneficial Owner

FERRAXQATARODZER
Number of Approximate %
Capacity ordinary shares of shareholding
HREZ
54 ZERRG BHAEI T
Trustee 154,349,960 46.34%
FFEA
Held by controlled corporation 147,779,960 44.37%
FriE®l 2 A8
Beneficial Owner 6,570,000 1.97%
EmlERA
Beneficial Owner 134,821,960 40.48%
EREAA
Beneficial Owner 16,447,000 4.94%
EmfEB A
Held by controlled corporation 23,613,000 7.09%
Frizlz AaliEs (Note)
(Kaz)
23,613,000 7.09%
EmERA (Note)
(Haz)

Note:

The reference to 23,613,000 shares above are held by Preferable
Situation Assets Limited, a company 100% controlled by Mr. Webb,
David Michael.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Directors’ Report

Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$115,000.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices of the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 32 to 47.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws/articles of association, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company recognizes that good corporate governance is
vital to the success of the Group and the sustained development
of the Group. The Company aims at complying with, where
appropriate, all code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Company has, throughout the year ended 31 March 2023,
applied and complied with most of the code provisions save for
certain deviations from the code provisions, details of which are
explained below.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company
has made specific enquiry to all directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the year under review
and they have all confirmed that they had fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code.

Board of Directors

The Board comprises of four Executive Directors, being Ms.
Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Shu Wan
(Managing Director), Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie and Dr.
Cheung Shu Sang, William; and three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, being Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, Mr. Lai
Ah Ming, Leon and Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin. Biographical
details, which include relationships among members of the
Board, are provided in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board of Directors (continued)

The Company has complied with the Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all Independent Non-Executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board
and the management. The Board is responsible for providing
high-level guidance and effective oversight of the management
while day-to- day management of the Group is delegated to
the management team of each respective subsidiary. Generally
speaking, the Board is responsible for:

° Formulating the Group’s long term strategy and monitoring
he implementation thereof

° Approval of interim and year end dividend

° Reviewing and approving the annual and interim reports
° Ensuring good corporate governance and compliance

° Monitoring the performance of the management

o Reviewing and approving any material acquisition and
assets disposal

The Board authorises the management to carry out the strategies
that have been approved.

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year and
additional meetings or telephone conferences are convened as
and when the Board considers necessary. During the year, four
board meetings were held.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its directors against liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Board considered that the duties of the Managing Director,
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (“MD”) were no different from that required
of a chief executive stipulated under the code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code. The management would regard that the term
MD will have the same meaning as the chief executive of the
Company.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman of the Board, is
an Executive Director who is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board, and ensuring that all significant
and key issues are discussed and where required, resolved by
the Board timely and constructively.

The MD of the Board is delegated with the authority and
responsibility to run the Group’s business and day-to-day
operation, and implement the Group’s strategy with respect to
the achievement of its business objectives with the assistance of
the executive directors and senior management.
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Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

Code provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any director appointed by the Board during the year
shall retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first
general meeting immediately following his/her appointment.
Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding
one-third, shall retire from office. The directors to retire by
rotation shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last re-election or appointment. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are similar to those
in the CG Code.

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the chairman and/
or the managing director is not subject to retirement by rotation
or taken into account in determining the number of directors
to retire. This constitutes a deviation from the CG Code. As
continuation is a key factor to the successful implementation
of any long term business plans, the Board believes that, the
present arrangement is most beneficial to the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

Code provision B.2.3 stipulates that If an independent non-
executive director has served more than nine years, such
director’s further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders.

Currently, one independent non-executive director, Mr. Lai Ah
Ming, Leon has served more than nine years.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the benefits of diversity of board
members. The Company considered diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Directors’ Training

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Each newly appointed Director would receive materials
covering the Group’s businesses and director’s duties and
responsibilities. The Company provides the Directors with market
news and regulatory updates for them to understand the latest
development of regulatory and compliance issues.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:
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Types of training

EINEE

Directors ==}
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie REY X+ B
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan REIEEA B
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie REHTZ A B
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William R AL B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHITES
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan 283 °un B
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon HERR S A B
Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin BRI E

(appointed on 9 September 2022) (RZE_Z_FALANBHEZT) B
Professor Lo Chung Mau E X

(resigned on 10 June 2022) (RZEBEZZFA+HEE) B

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B:  reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
economy, latest changes and development of the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices, and etc.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and comprises
three Board members, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors. The Audit Committee has adopted the
same terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties
of the Committee, as quoted under code provision D.3.3 of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee will meet at least twice each year. During
the year, the Audit Committee met twice considering the annual
results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023
and the interim results of the Group for the 6 months ended 30
September 2022, assessing any changes in accounting policies
and practices, major judgmental areas and compliance with
applicable legal and accounting requirements and standards,
discussing with the auditor of the Company on the risk
management and internal control systems.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2022 with written
terms of reference as stated in Code B.3.1 of the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee consists of three members, which
is chaired by Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman. Ms.
Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, an Independent Non-Executive Director
and Mr.
Director, are the Committee Members.

Lai Ah Ming, Leon, an Independent Non-Executive

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment of Directors
and the management of the Board succession.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving and maintaining
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.
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Nomination Committee (continueq)

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
to review and access the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, and to consider the qualifications of
the retiring directors standing for election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
is maintained and has not set any measurable objective
implementing the Board Diversity Policy.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2012 with
written terms of reference as stated in Code E.1.2 of the CG
Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
majority of which are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon, being an Independent Non-Executive
Director, acts as the chairman. Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, an
Independent Non-Executive Director and Ms. Cheung Lai See,
Sophie, an Executive Director, are the Committee Members.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and overseeing the remuneration packages of all directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendation to the Board for the determination of the
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board for the directors’ fee of non-
executive directors. It takes into account factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies with similar size and
trade, education background and qualification of each director
and senior management, time commitment and responsibilities
of directors and senior management and reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has held one
meeting, in which it reviewed, discussed and approved the
remuneration policies, system, package and the discretionary
bonus of the directors and senior management of the Company.

Details on the emolument payable to the directors and the
Company’s share option scheme are disclosed in Notes 8 and 29
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for considering, reviewing and/
or approving matters relating to, among others, the financial
and operating performance, as well as the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held
when significant events or important issues are required to be
discussed and resolved.

Details of all Directors’ attendance at Board meetings and Board

committee meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2023

are as follows:
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Number of Meeting Attended During Tenure/Held During Tenure

ERRLERS FEAEEETRY

2022
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting
i e £
ES883 ENZE99E FHZEe83 REZEEEE RRBEFAS
Name of Directors EEpg
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie ~ REPR &+
(Chairman) () 4/4 - - 1/1 11
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan REELE
(Managing Director) (EZHEE) 4/4 - - - 1/1
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie REHZL 4/4 - 11 - 1/1
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, Willam R4 fE+ 4/4 - - - 11
Independent Non-Executive ~ BYEHTES
Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan BERTL 4/4 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon RHEETE 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin BRGAE(R=_F=-—F
(appointed on 9/9/2022) NANBEZ() 2/2 1/1 - = 0/0
Professor Lo Chung Mau BERHR(K-ZE_—#
(resigned on 10/6/2022) NAFHEE) 0/0 0/0 - = 0/0
—:  The director is not a committee member - RESVIHFEZEEKE
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management; review and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; review and monitor the code of
conduct applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the Group’s compliance with
the code of corporate governance disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report and approved the 2022/2023
Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

Company Secretary

The former Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Wong
Lai Yung, has resigned as Company Secretary and Finance
and Account Manager of the Company with effect from 1
November 2022, as such the Company has not complied with
the requirement under the Rule 3.28 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) that an issuer shall have a company
secretary.

Ms. Tong On Ni (“Ms. Tong”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary and Finance and Accounts Manager of the Company
with effect from 23 March 2023. Following the appointment of
Ms. Tong, the Company has complied with the requirements
under the Rule 3.28 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

Ms. Tong is responsible to update and provide advice to the
Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules,
applicable laws and regulations, and corporate governance
matters. Ms. Tong has provided her training records to the
Company indicating her compliance with the training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Ms. Tong’s biographical
details are provided in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this Annual Report.
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Constitutional Documents

Upon the Shareholders’ approval by way of a special resolution
at the 2022 AGM held on 18 August 2022, the Company has
adopted the amended and restated Bye-laws. An updated
amended and restated Bye-laws have been posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statement

The Board acknowledges that it is their responsibility for (i)
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements of the
Group with a view to ensuring such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and (ii)
selecting suitable accounting policies and applying the selected
accounting policies consistently with the support of reasonable
and prudent judgement and estimates.

A statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 48 to 54 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year under review, the remuneration payable to the
Company’s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is
set out as follows:

Services rendered Fees payable

HK$’000

Audit services 2,044
Non-audit services

Taxation services 324

Audit of occupational retirement scheme 24
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Group’s
ESG performance and reporting are adequate. In this respect,
the Audit Committee communicates any material issues to the
Board.

In light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, the Directors are of the view that it would be more
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to
perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet its
needs. The Group does not have an internal audit department
and will continue to review the need for an internal audit function.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

During the year, the Group appointed Kennic Lui & Co., Limited
(“KLC”) as an external independent professional to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control reviews and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by KLC to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of KLC as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in order to
comply with Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules as well as Part XIVA
of the SFO. The internal control mechanism includes information
flow and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangements,
disclosure procedures, and staff training arrangements, etc.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management and further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.
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Dividend Policy

The board adopts a Dividend Policy which aims to allow
shareholders of the company to participate in the company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the group’s future
growth. The board shall consider the following factors before
declaring or recommending dividends:

° the company’s actual and expected financial performance;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
company and each of the members of the group;

° the group’s working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

° the group’s liquidity position;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the company; and

° other factors that the board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda
and the company’s Bye-laws. The board will continually review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.
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Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ Rights

The rights of the Shareholders are set out in the Bye-laws.

Convening a special general meeting

The Shareholders may put forward their proposals or enquiries
to the Board by sending their written request to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda
Companies Act.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting
Shareholder(s) can also submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at a general meeting pursuant to Section 79 to 80 of
the Bermuda Companies Act if they (a) represent not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of those shareholders
having the right to vote at a general meeting; or (b) are not less
than one hundred shareholders. The written requisition must
state the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at the
general meeting and deposited at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting (Continued)
The written requisition must be signed by all the Shareholders
concerned in one or more documents in like form and deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
for the attention of the Company Secretary not less than six
weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution, and not less than one week before the
meeting in the case of any other requisition. A sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement given
by the requisitionists to all shareholders in accordance with the
requirements under the applicable laws and rules should also be
accompanied.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Flat B, 23/F., Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee
Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company regards its Annual General Meeting as an
opportunity for direct communication between the Board
and its shareholders. All Directors and external auditor make
an effort to attend the Annual General Meeting to address
shareholders’ queries. The Company also responds to requests
for information and queries from the shareholders and investors
and welcomes the views of shareholders on matter affecting the
Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meeting to
communicate any concerns they might have with the Board.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ALLAN INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Allan International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 55 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters

ARESEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional AREASHEISEERFNESZHE - R A%
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the NEGE S ERENEB R AEENEZE - &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These LEFEAERMEBTBEEaAMBERERE R
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the ERRBETERIERN - R T ELEHIEMH
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our BEHNER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

HRETEE

Valuation of investment properties

REVFEIGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significant assumptions
and judgements involved in determining their fair value.
BHMERREVENHEFEABERNETFE 2R
FEORTEH R FEMBEST T RERRERMAE

The Group’s investment properties amounted to
HK$512,990,000 as at 31 March 2023 and a loss
on fair value changes of investment properties of
HK$4,719,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year then ended.

RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—H SEREMESHR5E
1,2008B T RBREMENDNTEEZ S 2 BIBFHITE
OTFABTERAFEirGEE R EMPEHKRRPER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETNIHARENERETRE

Qur procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BB AR EREDENIEFEE

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Surveyors;
. AHEBY A ERABAINTERS - EEMTHIL -

° Obtaining an understanding from the Surveyors
about the valuation technique, the performance of
the market, significant assumptions adopted and
key inputs used in the valuations;

. 18I 2 A AR A2 32 AR B R E R AT - TIBRIR - PIERA
WERBRRMEESE R AR5 E ABUE -

° Checking the accuracy and integrity of tenancy
information provided by management to the
Surveyors with the underlying source documents;

. EHERERMGASMAEEE DO ERE KA
X o
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters (continueq)

Key audit matter

HREEEE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)
REYFEAGE(E)

As disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, all of the Group’s investment properties
were stated at fair value based on a valuation
performed by a firm of independent qualified
professional surveyors (“Surveyors”). The fair value
of the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong
was determined by adopting the direct comparison
method. The valuation is sensitive to the market unit
rate of comparable properties and adjustment factors
such as size, view and floor level of property and timing
of the comparable transactions rate. The fair value
of the Group’s investment properties in the People’s
Republic of China was determined by adopting the
term and reversion analysis of investment approach.
The valuation is sensitive to market rents with key
inputs including rental in reversionary period and yield.
REEMBREEMTISFHRE  KFEMAREME
WATEEREBE-—RAFNBIEESERASA([A
EBEDmE - KSERBTEREVENRAFERRKAEE
WA EEE - MERAILROMISEMLEREE ¥
EORT  RE - BERBRUNRZHEEAFAENEA
R AEEEPEARANENREMENRTEERA
REPRMEFESITERTE - BREARBNEEHT
HHSHEE  BEEEHAS ROHE -

FAREETEE o)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANETNAHARENERETRE
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Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
used by the Surveyors in the valuation of
investment properties at year end, including the
rental in reversionary period, yield, market rents,
market unit rate of individual unit and adjustment
factors for size, view and floor level of property and
timing of comparable transactions against current
market data and entity specific information on a
sample basis; and

AEfE R 2R B AR A R AR B S 8 A BUR

MeEM  BREREE DR mEHEE - @ERE
MM SEMEBRMYEORT SENEE ARk

MHX S HEHEE TSR NEBARESNE
BEE  WEAAER R

With the assistance of our internal valuation
specialist, assessing the appropriateness of the
term and reversion analysis of investment approach
and the reasonableness of the relevant valuation
inputs used by the Surveyors in the valuation of
investment properties at year end.
EHRFINIBEEEROBE T - TFEREFENHR
MEHATHEEEARAEMEFERIEEYEGE
REANEREGERANSENL -



Independent Auditor’s Report

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report,
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

but does not include the

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Wing Hang.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

(Loss) gain on fair value changes of
investment properties

Reversal of impairment loss under expected
credit loss model, net

Impairment loss recognised on property,
plant and equipment

Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year attributable to owners
of the Company

Other comprehensive (expense) income:

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations

Net fair value loss on debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Reclassification of investment
revaluation reserve upon disposal of debt
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other comprehensive (expense)
income for the year

Total comprehensive expense for
the year attributable to owners of
the Company

Loss per share
Basic
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2023 2022
—E-=F bl
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
413,332 783,192
(396,605) (731,678)
16,727 51,514
44,757 35,017
5,640 (8,357)
(16,337) (24,358)
(81,491) (95,891)
(4,719) 15,190
88 755
(24,879) -
(491) (214)
(60,705) (21,344)
(1,348) (5,651)
(62,053) (26,995)
(26,234) 12,939
(164) (400)
(96) (67)
(26,494) 12,472
(88,547) (14,523)

HK(18.6) centsi&ll

HK(8.1) centsi ll
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %3R5 Bt #& R R 3=

At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=HA=+—~H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E = ke
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
ok TERT FHET
Non-current assets FEMBNEE
Investment properties REME 13 512,990 533,952
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKERE 14 6,583 39,230
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 3,765 3,948
Club debentures SHEEA 16 10,343 10,343
Debt instruments at fair value through BATEGFARMEE
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) WazEBRTA 20 7,662 =
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, ENBENE  BEK
plant and equipment BU-Ha - 2,187
541,343 589,660
Current assets RENBE
Inventories FE 17 41,066 95,494
Trade receivables JEWE SR 18 72,968 165,587
Other receivables E b eI BE =X 18 23,117 22,680
Mould deposits paid BEfEATE 5,869 4,373
Financial assets at fair value through FRBHE N EFEZ
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) MBEE 19 7,349 20,284
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEFAREMER
Wa 2 BHEITA 20 1,529 8,659
Tax recoverable FERFIE 1,381 1,182
Short-term deposits R 21(a) 367,684 93,254
Bank balances and cash RITEGFRAS 21(b) 186,575 411,377
707,538 822,890
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade payables ERE5ER 22 51,240 82,530
Other payables and accruals 5 B N A R A 23 76,425 104,023
Mould deposits received BRELETS 28,784 32,028
Tax liabilities HEaE 32,460 33,191
Secured bank loan BIEMBTER 24 5,124 5,124
194,033 256,896
Net current assets TBEEFE 513,505 565,994
Total assets less current liabilities BEERBDEE 1,054,848 1,155,654
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2023

Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIBEE
Secured bank loan BHEMRITER

Net assets EEFE

Capital and reserves BEAR K
Share capital R
Reserves fE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 171 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
27 June 20283 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHEUNG LAI CHUN, MAGGIE
REY
DIRECTOR
EF

e PR R

WEEE=s== A =5—F

2023 2022

—EC-=f —E = ks

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
HiaE FAERT FET
25 36,844 37,318
24 10,665 15,789
47,509 53,107

1,007,339 1,102,547

26 33,305 33,315
974,034 1,069,232

1,007,339 1,102,547

HNESEITIAZEAMBREEE N -F
T=FRNAZTLEEEESHERKET
T WHTIEERRESE -

CHEUNG LAI SEE, SOPHIE
REH
DIRECTOR
EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #ZEeEREH X

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE

Capital ~ Property Investment
Share Share redemption revaluation revaluation Translation  Retained
capital  premium resen;g reszﬂrj\g reserve reserve profits Total
&
Bax  ROEE BHERE EARR Eﬁﬁﬁ EXGE REOEN &g
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TEL TE7 FEL TET T TET T

At 1 April 2021 W-E-—%NA—H 33,543 109,884 793 85,807 603 26,731 947,633 1,204,994
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - (26,995)  (26,995)
Exchange difference arising on /W\\%% ABMEEL

translation of foreign operations EHER - - - - - 12,939 - 12,939
Net fair value loss on debt instruments at T’ii HE SIAEMRE

fair value through other comprehensive B EH)ER T AH)

income ATERHFE - = = = (400) = i (400)
Reclassification of investment HERD FE ﬂ\ﬁ@

revaluation reserve upon disposal of 2ERENER LR

debt instruments at fair value through =& ﬁfﬁ{%i%ﬁ“*ﬁ

other comprehensive income = = = = (67) a i (67)
Other comprehensive (expense) income A% £ 2 H (B3 ) zs

for the year - - - = (467) 12,939 = 12,472
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AEE2E (%) izas

for the year - . . . @67) 12,039 (26995  (14,523)
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ BER{EAIEZ K&,

(Note 11) (1) = = = = = - (83,758  (83,758)
Shares repurchased and cancelled RIPEEE Rt (Hi2226)

(Note 26) (02  (3,761) - - - - - (3989
Shares repurchased but not yet cancelled k{7 BB 1 i & 5 84 (#5226)

(Note 26) ‘ = = (155) = = = = (189)
Transaction costs attributed to RARIEEAR ZMA

repurchase of shares - (16) 6) = = - - (22)
At 31 March 2022 R-E-—F=fA=+-H 33,315 106,107 632 85,807 136 39,670 836,880 1,102,547
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - (62,053)  (62,053)
Exchange difference arising on /EM%?%E@ FrEEL

translation of foreign operations RER = = = = = (26,234) = (26,234)
Net fair value loss on debt instruments at }’ﬁ JFE‘H\H’@%EH&(

fair value through other comprehensive ~ BB T AMALE

income BEFE - - = = (164) = S (164)
Reclassification of investment HERAT A ALL2E

revaluation reserve upon disposal of ll&ﬁnm ERIAMKE

debt instruments at fair value through ~ BEHEETHE

other comprehensive income - - = = (96) = = (96)
Other comprehensive expense for AEEEMEASM

the year - - - - (260) (26,234) - (26,494)
Total comprehensive expense for AEEZAYHER

the year - . - . (060) (26234 (62,053  (88,547)
Dividends recognised as distribution BREDRZA

(Note 11) (B3 1) - : 2 - - - beel)  (6661)
Shares cancelled fRiAzEsE (10) (151) 161 = - = = =
At 31 March 2023 “E-=F=f=1-H 38,305 105,956 793 85,807 (124) 13,436 768,166 1,007,339
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Reversal of impairment loss under expected credit

loss model, net
Allowance for inventory provision, net
Impairment loss recognised on property, plant
and equipment
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of
investment properties
Cumulative gain reclassified of
investment revaluation reserve upon
disposal of debt instruments at FVTOCI
Net loss on fair value changes of
financial assets at FVTPL

Write-off of property, plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease in inventories

Decrease in trade receivables

Increase in other receivables

Increase in mould deposits paid

Decrease in trade payables

Decrease in other payables and accruals

(Decrease) increase in mould deposits received

Cash generated from (used in) operations
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
The People’s Republic of

China (“PRC”) Enterprise Income Tax paid
PRC withholding tax paid

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

AERERER

BE_T_=Ff=A=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—EZ=fF —E o ks
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEL
REEE
BriiAIE R (60,705) (21,344)
-

BT AR 491 214

FEWA (7,600) (4,216)

W% BELREETE 7,980 13,254

FREEEZIE 183 183

HHEEBBERTH

A EEEREFE (88) (755)
FERE 800 943
M - BEREBDER

HEEE 24,879 =
BREMELTEBBMEE L

BB (&) 4,719 (15,190)
HERATEMAEMEZEKEZ

B TARREEGHEEEN

/‘*EE@%W% gl (96) (67)

BRBHERATEFEZ

CRIBENDNTEZEA

EENBEYE 583 265

MR - BE KRS 66 87
EEEAREHF EERETE

(28,788) (26,626)
FERD 48,127 993
W E 5 BR 5R0R A 92,702 75,769
A I BR SR 0 (811) (4,521)
B EAZRESE N (1,496) (42)
[N E R0 D (26,533) (69,319)
A A5 BR 5K K B A

KR (23,081) (830)
BUEARS Ol )1Em (3,244) 4,578
REER () 2B 56,876 (19,998)
ERNEEFEH (383) (5,794)
BERPEARLME(HE])

EMEH (2,351) (3,967)
B & BN - (2,254)
RESTEE)(FTiE) 2 &3 8

54,142 (32,013)
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AERERER

BE_T-_=Ff=A=+—HLFE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
—EC-=E T '~
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received B HFE 7,923 4,713
Proceeds from disposal of PSR IEREE -
— financial assets at FVTPL —BBEBEREATE
AHEREE 12,029 =
— debt instruments at FVTOCI —BAYEFAREMBEZE
WaHmEBIA 7,031 15,587
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEKEE (1,917) (9,695)
Purchases of debt instruments at FVTOCI BERATEF AEMEEW R
ZEBIA (7,727) T
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, ENBENE  BEX

plant and equipment Bd-HER - (2,187)
Withdrawal of short-term deposits eBUE BER 67,100 69,819
Placement of short-term deposits TR EBRER (89,478) (64,476)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING REFB(FIRE) 2R ST

ACTIVITIES (5,039) 13,761
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Dividends paid BT S (6,661) (83,758)
Interest paid BAFLE (491) (214)
Repayment of secured bank loan BEAEEARITER (5,124) (5,124)
Payment on repurchase and cancellation of shares S B& 7 [B1 88 & 5T 8% - (4,144)
Transaction costs attributable to repurchase and Bt B 3 K s S A X S AR

cancellation of shares - (22)
CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEFHMERS (12,276) (93,262)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH B4 MIRE&ZEEMOHD)FE

EQUIVALENTS 36,827 (111,514)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RENzRERAELEE

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 411,377 520,762
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEER g v & (9,577) 2,129
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE RE#42 RS RIS EE -

YEAR, represented by HER 438,627 411,377
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRRE 186,575 411,377
Short-term deposits with REIH A A=A LA

original maturity within three months HERRITE R 252,052 =

438,627 411,377
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

General Information

Allan International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its
immediate holding company is Allan Investment Company
Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong Kong;
and its ultimate holding company is Credit Suisse Trust
Limited, who is a trustee of The Cheung Lun Family Trust,
the discretionary beneficiaries of which are, among other
family members, the directors of the Company, Mr. Cheung
Shu Wan, Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Ms. Cheung
Lai See, Sophie and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and provides corporate management services to its
subsidiaries. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are manufacturing and trading of
household electrical appliances.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

SEPBHRESME

BE

=SB4 B e gr— g eEEE

—REH

THRBEEBEEEAERAR(IARR])
REREZMKILAXHREBERE
FRa  ERNDEBBBERISME
BMAR EM([ERA]) - EEER
RElRTEMREBRAR  REET
MRZBFARG s ARKZERA A
% Credit Suisse Trust Limited * &
The Cheung Lun Family Trust Z 12 5
A HAgXa AR (RREEMKE
M)BEARRBICESTRERELE RERE
T+ REFZIREHESL - A4
Rl EE 2t R EB LR
RNEMR [RARIER |ZM0H HHEE o

ARFPREAZBRATRBHLLES
RERHBAR  ARARLHERA
(TAEEDHTBEBAHHERBER
FEES -

REMBHREEDAETIR  TRA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz
=qr

For the year ended 31 March 2023 e aT S = e —HIEFE

Application of Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Application of Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®
Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction'

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2028.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Application of Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & B RS E M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 e Yt e = I e [

Application of Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may
require items in financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured
at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions
based on the latest available, reliable information.

2.

FE A &R1E 5] BV & 78 B 7 3R
HEA([BFRBYBREE
Al 1))

EHEMGESRERZHAIREEITZE
MR EER(E)
BEBEER F8H ST A E T 15 BIE
&
ZIERIER QT EF R FHEAETHH
AENFHBHRRZIEETE] - SHHR
AR EHAETHRRERNY KRR
WIEE BT E - B BRATAERE
HiEE R ENEREAR T ER
BIEMAT G - RUIEBERT - —M
ERERES A EHEEDEFR
REIMER - mESF AT EERE
RN RIS A SER B RHE L B0 H B SRR
R e

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting BEoh - BB G ERIE SR G5 st
estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional EOBS T AMRE - EBE—FFF o

clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

ERZEETRHI e AEENGS
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Annual Report 2022/2023 —_E - _—_FZ _FE_=FF

65



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except
for investment properties and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of

the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.1

3.2

68 Allan International Holdings Limited = fi & R &

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

Revenue from sales of household electrical appliance
is recognised at a point in time, when control of the
good is transferred to the customer, i.e. when goods
are delivered to the customer’s designated location.
The normal credit term is 30 to 180 days upon
delivery.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of
the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liability.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within
“investment properties”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured
at fair value.

Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rate fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation),
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants are presented under “other
income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme”) in December 2000, all being defined
contribution schemes, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restricting cost.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

SEPBHRESME

B

3.

E=E

=

B R et =l 6

REUBBRRNEREE

EEES5HE 4w

3.2

FTESHBRE)

ESEF

IRORIE FUBE AKX
REBRRERBRzEEZRE - B
BRKTEIBBGA([AER]) &
ERZTTTFE = AR
AR IEH Z8 S M A BT E
(l8HEe])  FTAEMBETEER
T2 REERERBSEMESHR
FEHWERAMAY -

HUEE T

RAEBE NI HE A EFZ L%
1A BE SR A (AT A8 B IR Il AR A B (JABR
RERE) RUERBMKERSE

f& °

KHES 15 T

RHEE RN R ERBREREE
BHXNEMNZIRITREE - B
MREBEMNERERRFAX - KR
FRBEAUBHRELENZ RN A
AP FIE ABERA ©

RIBRERNENESER  EERS
MEN (M TEEFHE RFER)ER
RARE-

Annual Report 2022/2023 —_E - _—_FZ _FE_=FF

79



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss)
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs
of testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building
When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Transfer from owner-occupied property to
investment property carried at fair value
If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation, any difference between
the carrying amount and the fair value of that item
(including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly
to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values, adjusted
to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or the group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(o) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of

cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost
and debt instruments subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as
a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of
these debt instruments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in profit
or loss with corresponding adjustment to other
comprehensive income without reducing the
carrying amounts of these debt instruments.
When these debt instruments are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

iii Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, debt
instruments at FVTOCI, short-term deposits, and
bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at

the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements f.{f“ SHBHREENST

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BESE T =S

A=+—HIL%E

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4B EREAWHEIEE

Financial Statements and Significant EEES5HE 4w
Accounting Policies (continueq)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESHHBEE)
Financial instruments (Continued) 2T AE)
Financial assets (Continued) T EE (&)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment B F S SR R S0 /AgE
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) TZEeMmBEREBE(E)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERGBAELINE)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per
globally understood definitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness

of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

(i)  Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group

considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
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(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial

asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial

asset is credit-impaired includes observable

data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

]

Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between

all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve without reducing the carrying amounts
of these debt instruments. Such amounts
represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserves in relation to accumulated
loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continueq)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including secured bank loan,
trade payables and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognise financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of
the Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment property portfolios in Hong Kong
and the PRC, and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties in Hong Kong,
the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The Group
has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties in Hong Kong as the Group
is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes
of the investment properties on disposal.

The directors of the Company concluded that the Group’s
investment properties in the PRC are held under a business
model whose objective is to earn rental which consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodies in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties in
the PRC, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. The Group
has recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties in the PRC as the Group is subject
to income tax rate of 25% on the fair value changes of the
investment properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on internal credit rating of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Notes 18 and 28(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group
of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate
assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment subject to impairment assessment
was HK$6,583,000 (2022: HK$39,230,000), after taking
into account the impairment loss of HK$24,879,000 (2022:
nil) in respect of property, plant and equipment that has
been recognised. Details of the impairment of property,
plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 14.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Valuation of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties are stated at fair value of HK$512,990,000
(2022: HK$533,952,000) based on the valuation performed
by a firm of independent qualified professional surveyors.

In determining the fair value of investment properties
located in Hong Kong, surveyors have used the direct
comparison method which involves estimation of market
unit rate of comparable properties and adjustment factors
such as size, view and floor level of properties and timing
of the comparable transactions. Fair value of investment
properties located in the PRC was determined based
on term and reversion analysis of investment method by
capitalising rental income on a basis having regard to
the current passing rental income from existing tenancy
and the potential reversionary rental income at market
level and vacancy rate, with key inputs including rental in
reversionary period and yield.

In relying on the valuation reports, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the methods of valuations are reflective of the
current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Note 13 provides detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of investment properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Revenue and Segment Information

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing
and trading of household electrical appliance. Revenue of
the Group is sales of household electrical appliance and
the revenue is recognised at one point in time. Revenue
is recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been departed from specific
location. Transportation and handling activities that
occur before customers obtain control are considered as
fulfilment activities. Following the delivery, the customer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all received purchase
orders are expected to be completed within 1 year.

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors
(the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on geographical regions.

The Group is currently organised into four operating
divisions — Europe sales, Asia sales, America sales and
other regions sales. The information reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance is
based on these operating divisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

5. Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Segment Revenues and Results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results for each of the reportable and operating segments:

Year ended 31 March 2023

REVMBRESHE

s s = E S H R

5. EXHBERIHER @)

DHRERERRE
ATTIREAEEIZA] 2 M & EED#B
WEEBZEXRBMEEELRZON

BE-—E-_=F=-F=+—HIFE

Other
Europe Asia America regions Consolidated
BN [+ EM At & 5e
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx TEx TEx TET TEx
Segment revenue (Note a) PHEEB(Hita) 90,156 69,954 243,763 9,459 413,332
Segment loss AEEE (8,783) (6,815) (23,747) (921) (40,266)
Other gains and losses AR R ER
(except net foreign exchange gain) (SERMFERN) (556)
Depreciation (gxcept moulds) FE(EAR) (7,411)
Loss on fair value changes of RENF A TEES
investment properties FEERER (4,719)
Finance costs HBER (491)
Impairment loss recognised on property, 1% « FifE kX EEER
plant and equipment HEEE (24,879)
Reversal of impairment loss under BHEEBRELTH
expected credit loss model, net HEBBEEFHE 88
Unallocated income and expenses, net K AR A BB %58
(Note b) (Wp) 17,529
Loss before tax BRERIER (60,705)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

certain other income, central administration costs and

directors’ salaries.
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5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. BXZERISHER »)
(Continued)
Segment Revenues and Results (Continued) DEHEXERXEE)
Year ended 31 March 2022 gE—F - —F=A=F—HIFE
Other
Europe Asia America regions  Consolidated
BN D ENM EiinE Fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T TET FHET T#x FiET
Segment revenue (Note a) DENEEE(fita) 380,067 73,402 304,428 25,295 783,192
Segment loss AEEE (17,444) (3,369) (13,973) (1,161) (35,947)
Other gains and losses AR R ER
(except net foreign exchange loss) (SEBEFER) 696
Depreciation (except moulds) REEARIN) (11,966)
Gain on fair value changes of investment &Y%z A TEEE
properties FEERAT 15,190
Finance costs HBER (214)
Reversal of impairment loss under BHEEEREATA
expected credit loss model, net REEBOEFE 785
Unallocated income and expenses, net Rk PEMARFZF4E
(Note b) (Hiitn) 10,142
Loss before tax BREtAER (21,344)
Notes: HiaE -
a) The allocation of segment revenue is determined based on a) NHEEBNIERERE mAIMNE
destinations of shipment of products. B #) 3 M fETE ©
b) Unallocated income and expenses mainly represented b)

AOMBRARRXEEZRE ELEAM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment Revenues and Results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment loss represents the loss
from each segment without allocation of certain other
income, central administration cost and directors’ salaries,
other gains and losses (except net foreign exchange
gain (loss)), depreciation (except moulds), (loss) gain
on fair value changes of investment properties, finance
costs, impairment loss recognised on property, plant and
equipment and reversal of impairment loss under expected
credit loss model, net. This is the measure reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. Revenue
reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales in both
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BESET = A== IEEE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. BXZERISHER »)

(Continued)
Segment Assets And Liabilities THEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and ANTAREERA 2R REED LM
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: BERBEEHR :
Segment Assets D EEE
2023 2022
—ZE=-= =B==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Europe BN 26,737 139,286
Asia CEWA 24,776 30,883
America ZE=M 65,376 88,218
Other regions H i [= 3,014 9,336
Segment assets DEPEE 119,903 267,723
Unallocated assets AOBREE
Financial assets as FVTPL FHRERNE AT EAE
2B E 7,349 20,284
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFESAEMEE S
ZEBITE 9,191 8,659
Short-term deposits SR NEE N 367,684 93,254
Bank balances and cash RITEFAR S 186,575 411,377
Investment properties wEYE 512,990 533,952
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KRB
(except moulds) (HEE BRI 6,583 36,961
Other receivables E 1th fE Y BR R 23,117 22,680
Other unallocated assets (Note) E R DB EE (A it) 15,489 17,660
Consolidated assets HEEBE 1,248,881 1,412,550
Note: Other unallocated assets comprised tax recoverable, club Wit HMROPMEEREERETIE &

debentures, right-of-use assets and deposits paid for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

Segment Liabilities

Europe

Asia

America
Other regions

Segment liabilities (Note)
Unallocated liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Secured bank loan
Tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

REVMBRESHE

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

5. EXHBERIHER @)

PHEEREE(H)
S EEE
2023 2022
ZEZE —_=__
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FA&T
B 6,278 11,344
CEWA 4,872 2,481
= 16,975 17,472
H b 659 731
DEBEM ) 28,784 32,028
RAOBLEE
FEE SRR 51,240 82,530
A JE AN AR R 2 AT AR AN 76,425 104,023
BEMRITER 15,789 20,913
MIEBE 32,460 33,191
EXERIEAR 36,844 37,318
mEAaRE 241,542 310,008

Note: Segment liabilities represented mould deposits received by

each segment.

Hat - R ERE—D
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

REPBHRESME

HEom = =S A= =Bl IE5EE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. BXZERISHER »)

(Continued)

Information About Major Customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

TEEFHNENR

AEERPBBAZRFEI0%HIA LR

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are REEESIN ¢
as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= =sH==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Customer A (Europe, Asia, America EEACROMN « M~ EMNR
and Other regions) Hibih &) 130,460 146,768
Customer B (Europe, Asia, America EEBBUM - M - EMR
and Other regions) Hipbih[E) 121,156 206,869
Customer C (Europe, Asia, America BECBUM - TN -~ EME
and Other regions) Hipih[z) 61,711 291,618
Customer D (Europe, Asia, America ZEDBUM ~ T2~ FEM &
and Other regions) Hipih =) 45,054 N/A?
1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of g RARBIBANE B[R H 48 & ¥ 5 10%k
the total revenue of the Group. LA L
Geographical Information i & & R

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the

PRC.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding debt instruments at FVTOCI, is presented based

AE(THRE]) -

AEEZ2BHHRBERPEARHK

BRAAKEZIERBDEE(RAFERA
Hp2mEW a2 B TARKRINZRERE

on the geographical location of the assets. EfffEEmE7

2023 2022
—E-= —ET-—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FET
Hong Kong BB 290,582 299,539
The PRC F 243,099 290,121
533,681 589,660
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

5. Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Other Segment Information
Year ended 31 March 2023

Europe Asia
B o
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx T

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:

BTER L HEHRA - -
BHTAZMERA - -
BelA - -

Interest income on bank deposits
Interest income on debt instruments
Rental income

REVMBRESHE

BE_T_=Ff=A=+—HLFE

5. EXHBERIHER @)

Hitb 2 # &
BE—F-_=F=-A=1+—HAULFE
Other Total
America regions segment  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
£ HtHE FHER AR &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FiEn FiEn FAr Fir Fir
HHBETHPRHETELERRAL

BREERE 8BS BuFX AL

BE:

- - - 7,363 7,363
- - - 27 27
- - - 19,584 19,584

Year ended 31 March 2022

Europe Asia
B ot
HK$'000 HK8'000
AT AT

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit or

BP T __—F=ZHA=1+—HIFE

QOther Total
America regions segment  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
Qi AR AHEE AR 548
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL AT AT AL AL

HEBETHRECEREEERRAL
BREERTENMENAERIDE

loss or segment assets: BE

Interest income on bank deposits BIERZHBRA = - - - - 3,628 3,628

Interest income on debt instruments ~ EETEZFIEMA - - - - - 588 588

Rental income HEWA - - - - - 20,451 20,451
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE =g —aE s B = 4—E| kS
6. Other Income 6. Hfilg A
2023 2022
—=E=-= ===

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Rental income WA 19,584 20,451
Interest income B A 7,600 4,216
Building management fee income BFEREBRA 6,699 6,779
Scrap sales EEmIHE 383 395
Government grants (Note) BB & (B7E) 3,102 -
Others Hib 7,389 3,176
44,757 35,017
Note: For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised Blar: BE-—_E-—=€=A=+—BH &

government grants of approximately HK$1,559,000 B AEBREBRFRENER
(2022: nil) in relation to Employment Support Scheme HEE AR T 1589 T A T
provided by the Hong Kong government and approximately (ZEZZF 8RB ) RERhHEA
HK$1,543,000 (2022: nil) relates to government assistance BB KRB A 165483 TH T
and tax refunds in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled (ZZE=Z=F :RF) BELEHS

NEER MR G TEER -

7. HbBAREE

conditions or contingencies in relation to these grants.

7. Other Gains and Losses

2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEL
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) SNERFI(EBE)F5E 6,196 (4,053)

Write-off of property, plant and Y - BUE KR E MR

equipment (66) (87)
Cumulative gain reclassified of HEEREAFEGFAREMEE

investment revaluation reserve upon WHZEBITERKRE

disposal of debt instruments EhHREEENSEN

at FVTOCI Rt &R 96 67
Net loss on fair value changes of FHRB RN T ERE 2

financial assets at FVTPL BEANFEEHMEELEZ

B8 %58 (583) (265)
5,640 (3,357)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BiTES

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Note 2) REBLE(Hz2)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie REYL

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie KRBT

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William i BT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE B d#{7E%E
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon PRALE

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan =€ 3ot

Professor Lo Chung Mau (Note 4) B s/ # (Hit4)

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin (Note 5) B2 4% 4 (f25)

Total k]

SEPBHRESME

s s = E S H R

8. EE FETHAEKE

S E
() EBERIEAHARMS
IR EEE A MBS

e RS

BERARES LMARAEEAERR]
FROINENESERERITHRARN

B

BE—_FT-_=F=H=+—HIF

E
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fee benefits Bonus  contribution Total
#eR BRAEF
He Hit A i S &g
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK’000 HK$°000
FAT FEn FEn FEr FEn
(Note 1)
(Hat1)
- 2,085 - 233 2,318
- 1,588 - 170 1,758
- 1,333 - 146 1,479
- 1,185 - 127 1,312
120 - - - 120
120 - - - 120
120 - - - 120
360 6,191 - 676 7,227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS YrES

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Note 2) REBEE(HE2)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie REY LT

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie RESTL

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William REEET

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BUEH{TEE

DIRECTORS
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon RIERLE
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan BERTT

Professor Lo Chung Mau (Note 4) BB (fi4)

Total ks

e M

GEoET =4S A= gr—EIEEE

& B

= Fff &t

8. EE - XFETHAERE
EME s

EERIETRAEMSE(E)

(a)

He=F = =F= = FE

E
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fee benefits Bonus  contribution Total
T RARET
e L] TE4L HELES bk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000 HK$'000
TAT AT TAT TAT FET
(Note 1)
(Hizt1)
- 2,863 867 282 4,012
- 2,059 241 206 2,506
= 1,781 218 177 2,176
- 1,525 218 153 1,896
120 - - - 120
120 = = = 120
240 8,228 1,544 818 10,830
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Notes:

(1)

@)

The bonus is determined with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Group.

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan is the managing director of
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the
managing director. The board considered that the
duties of the managing director were no different
from that required of a chief executive stipulated.
The management of the Company would regard that
the term of managing director of the Company will
have the same meaning as the chief executive of the
Company.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

Professor Lo Chung Mau resigned as an independent
non-executive director on 10 June 2022.

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 9 September
2022.

Professor Lo Chung Mau waived his fees of
HK$120,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022,
Other than that, no other directors waived or agreed

to waive any remuneration during both years.
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B R et =l 6

2T

8. EE - XETHAERE
EME s

EERIETRAEMSES(E)

(a)

Azt -

(1

TEALTIRIBERA T R EBRKR
RTE e

REREETRARAZESLE
B EEmREZME T EE
ERIRHESALERE 2B
B-BEZaR5 EFRLED
BEETHRAHRENBRER
TEAR - RRARERERERR
AR B EFEEIRAERREAR
AITRAEZENEHEMER -

BT EEMEARERHAE
BARRRAEEEBHH R -
EIVBTIRTESHERRE
EREZERARAIRERE 2B
Jis I

EEEYER-_ZE-_—F,A+
BB TR IERITE BRI -

ERMEEIN_ZE-__FALAA
BEZTAARRAR B IENTE
=.

ERXBBENEARBE_T_—

F=
BT o BRILZ AN -

AR=+—BLEFE®B£128
HEMEERETE

TBRABBAARNEEMFOME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid employees of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023 included four directors
(2022: four directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out above.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
remuneration of the one highest paid employee
who is neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company is as follows:

Salaries and other allowances e M E A ERL
Discretionary bonus BEWIEAL
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIFT 2R

contribution
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REVBRESHE

HE_—_T—

B8 B ey =l - T

8. EE - XFETHAERE
EME s

(b)

EEMS
MECm =S B == ks
B AEEBRNESHSEERE
ARBEE(ZTF (4REF) -
HM e BN X -

HE_ T _=FK_ZF__—F#=A8
Z+—HBIFE  WIEARRES
TR AR &= & & B A E B
B

2023 2022
—g-= —ZT=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET

1,392 1,392

- 196

139 139

1,531 1,727




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued)
For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
number of the one highest paid employee who is not
the director of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following band is as follows:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 8 TE
2,000,000 7T

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and five highest paid employees as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

SEPBHRESME

s s = E S H R

8. EE - XETHAERE
EME s

(b)

EEME(Z)
HE_Z-_=Fk-_T-—"F=H1
=+—HIEFE - E#H—RIEFEARQ
AEENRETSNEEBTUTE
B :

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E -
No. of No. of
employees employees
ESEH EEZH
1 1

HE_ZT-_=Fh-_T-__F=H
=tT—HIEFE  AEEHERE
ERhEF R NES 5B
® - ASENE AR SE B hoin AR
SESERBERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

9. FIEHAX

9. Income Tax Expense

Current tax: AKEFEEHIE
Hong Kong BB

PRC Enterprise Income Tax R FEATSE
PRC withholding tax R EITEIN
Overprovision in prior years: BAFERERE
Hong Kong B
Deferred tax (Note 25) EREFLIE (A1 7£25)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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2023 2022
—E-=F —EE = 4=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
395 937
2,180 3,883

- 2,254

2,575 7,074
(753) (1,021)
(474) (402)
1,348 5,651

TEAMBHANEREFNET - 64
REEBBEERNE2008 BT BB
8.25% My Fi R F - 200 & H ot A £
BFIEBIZ16.5%MBHERBE - T/F4
MBS FEREGSENHEERERBFEK
BEBEIR16.5%MHK — R - At -
AEREETERBNAESNSHIRGEE
R otk A1 B B 200 8 4 T 12 8.25% HU R
KB 2008 7 7T /0 & 51 FE SR B v B %
16.5%5 & °

REFBEEMAEREA(IREMEHR
BOED RERBOEAR - BRI M E
FRZEELEMBHR25% °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

9.

Bz

Income Tax Expense (continued) 9.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive expense as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate
of 16.5%

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC

Overprovision in respect of prior years

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised

Others

Income tax expense for the year

BRI A& 18

BREBNEHTE16.5%
AR A SR B 2

BAGRZBWAHBIARE

%T_A

MR E S

e = e Bl <

rEBEX e

REFZHEBNMBAIHEGREERR
2 EX HRAZBRBAIEENAT

6 2 5 o R A R B

P
B
RIERBARE 2 Y

Z WA BB 2 R

Hith

REFRIAZ N

2023 2022
—E-= S
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FETT
(60,705) (21,344)
(10,016) (3,522)
14,617 5,848
(2,258) (1,129)
2,265 1,544
(753) (1,021)
2,825 20
- ©)
(5,332) 3,914
1,348 5,651
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements RS BIEHE E

For the year ended 31 March 2023

10. Loss for the Year

Loss for the year has been arrived at
after charging (crediting):

Employee benefit expenses, including
directors’ remunerations (Note 8)
— Salaries and allowances
— Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Total employee benefit expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Total depreciation

Gross rental income from investment
properties
Less: direct operating expenses
incurred for investment
properties that generated rental
income during the year

Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense

B &£

BE_ZT_=F=A=+—HILFE

10. X FEFR

2023 2022
—E-= IME3E T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
AEEEBEE MR GIA)
THFIE
BIRAN(BREEEHNE)
(K:£8)
— B TH BN &2 125,289 204,026
— RRBRIFT B L3R
14,622 18,721
48 THR 139,911 222,747
ME - BERZETE
7,980 13,254
FREEENE 183 183
e 8,163 13,437
KEYENBHES WA
(19,584) (20,451)
W FREAESWAR
REMEMEER
HEZERY
902 912
(18,682) (19,539)
Z AN & 2,126 2,386
FERABHERERY
396,605 731,678
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & B RS E M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE
11.Dividends 11. k&
2023 2022
—E-=F = -l
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FA&T

Dividends for ordinary shareholders FREERREFARFZ

of the Company recognised as LTBERBER RS
distribution during the year:
- 2028 interim dividend of nil cents ——E-=FRAFRHRKE
(2022: 2022 interim dividend —E-—
of HK2 cents) per share —E__FHRE
FRR28U) - 6,667
- 2022 final dividend of HK2 cents — T FREKE
(2022: 2021 final dividend of BR2ABW(ZE ==
HK8 cents) per share R —FRERE
R8BI 6,661 26,814
- 2022 special dividend of nil cents ——F—— ‘)ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ“ o\
(2022: 2021 special dividend BT =—
of HK15 cents) per share FRRIREFR158) - 50,277

6,661 83,758

No dividend has been proposed since the end of the RMEPRERE - ARETEZERER
reporting period. A final dividend in respect of the year BeoHE_ZT-_—_F=ZA=+—HIEF
ended 31 March 2022 of HK2 cents per ordinary share, EREIR B EFIR2E( - 255 56665

in aggregate amount of HK$6,661,000 were proposed, 1F8TT -
declared and paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

12. Loss Per Share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

REVBRESHE

BE_ZT_=F=A=+—HILFE

12. BRE#

BERASEGAREAANERERZ
AEDREATER

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per mEREREIEM S 2E1E
share (loss for the year attributable to  (KRFEE A D E4E AR 7

owners of the Company) wmEAZEE)

Weighted average number of ordinary FLERELRERMS 2

2023 2022
—E-=F ol = i |
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(62,053) (26,995)

Number of shares

shares for the purpose of basic loss TBAEAR D hnRETF 5 2B

per share

No diluted loss per share has been presented for both years
as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue.
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2023 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & B RS E M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE

13. REW

13. Investment Properties

The Group leases out various offices, car parks and
manufacturing plants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period

AEENZEEHENTALBZAHRR
= BUMBERE  8AXNEZ -
HEBRERPEWNF(ZT__F: —

of 1 to 4 years (2022: 1 to 4 years) and the lease payments Z2F)  HEMNKEHRERRNAEEE -
are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as MRFrERENNEEEES NI
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are B¥EE E&ZSE@Tﬁl%H%TZEFHﬁ

denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

EFINEER  HEARTESEERE
f%%ﬂ/ﬁ)iﬁk%ﬂ/\%_t%ﬂh/ﬂsﬁﬂiﬁ%ﬁEZ#%%
HY R IEHE -

The Group’s property interests held under operating leases AEBELEHENARNESHMEERS
to earn rentals are measured using fair value model and DERBAATEERGE UL BEAERE

are classified and accounted for as investment properties.
These investment properties are manufacturing plants,

office units and car park spacing.

MEME SELREVEBRHEER
P BFEMEML -

2023 2022
—E-= —E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
FAIR VALUE NE
Balance at beginning of year FA 4 533,952 508,758
Net (decrease) increase in fair values /A (& B &) A & £ HY
recognised in profit or loss SECRDERIESEDR (4,719) 15,190
Exchange adjustments bE 5 S B (16,243) 10,004
Balance at end of year FREERR 512,990 533,952
Unrealised (loss) gain on investment BEERAZAERIKE
property revaluation included MEEM(EER) R
in profit or loss (4,719) 15,190
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BESET = A== IEEE

13. REWHE »)

13. Investment Properties (continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by
RHL Appraisal Ltd., an independent qualified professional
surveyors not connected to the Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties,
the directors of the Company work closely with qualified
professional surveyors to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the
highest and best use of the investment property is their
current use.

The valuation of the investment properties in Hong Kong,
which falls under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, has been
arrived at by using direct comparison method by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for properties in
the similar locations and conditions. The valuation of the
investment properties in the PRC, which falls under level 3
of the fair value hierarchy, has been arrived at by using term
and reversion analysis of investment method by capitalising
rental income and the potential reversionary rental income
at market level and adjusted to vacancy rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

13. Investment Properties (continued)

Significant unobservable input(s)

EAFTREZBASE

Valuation technique(s)

fhERT

Direct comparison The weighted average market unit rate,
adjusted by size, view and floor level
of property, timing of comparable
transactions, etc., of HK$23,305 per
square foot (2022: HK$23,729 per square
foot)

METATHER - HEENER KBNS
BRFIRALBRORZSRESAE - M
RRNMETHTSENBRAGTAR
23,3058 L(ZE-Z% : B¥LR23,729
AT

Office units in Hong Kong
2023: HK$275,000,000
2022: HK$280,000,000

it EENBTE ERUK
TRIZF 2750088
ZB-F 0f88,0008 8T

Direct comparison The weighted average market unit rate,
adjusted by timing of the comparable
transaction and accessibility of the car
park spacing, of HK$2,500,000 each

(2022: HK$2,500,000 each)

Car park spacing in Hong Kong
2023: HK$5,000,000
2022: HK$5,000,000

IR EBHEN BREE MEFYUTHER AT LENR HERA
ZE=F 50088 HuMAEEEE  §EAL0EET
“E-E 50088 T (ZE-—F : 5508 ET)

Term and reversion
analysis of
investment approach

The weighted average monthly market rent,
adjusted by rental in reversionary period
and yield, of RMB15.73 per square meter
(approximately HK$18.09 per square
meter) (2022: RMB15.49 per square
meter (approximately HK$19.05 per
square meter))

MESATHES  BETZKT DEENS
EHEWARBBAEE - ARAHMET
VEATEHEE AT A KIS TIBTARY
(BERRL18.008T)(ZE=2F: §
FHRI5AITARK (BT K419.0678
7))

Manufacturing plants in the PRC
2023: HK$232,990,000
2022: HK$248,952,000

fri P B RER REBBRNREN T
CRICE 2R3209BRE T

B CFfE4 89582 T

There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the
year.

The Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group at
the end of both years as disclosed in Note 24.

REVMBRESHE

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

13. REWH (»)

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

FUBRZBASBALTEZBE

A significant decrease in the
weighted average market unit rate
used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice
versa.

EROMSERNEE TRIEER
NHENBE TR - R2HA -

A significant decrease in the
weighted average market unit rate
used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice
versa.

RRNTHERNBE TREEH
DHENBETR  RZMA

A significant decrease in the
weighted average monthly market
rent used would result in a
significant decrease in fair value,
and vice versa.

e AmHHES MRS TR
BYRTFENRE R RN
% o

REAF=ZRIREEAREH -

AEEEBRBENREMECHEERRA - K
ERAMEFEARBEMT24HET
REBHIRTTRE -

—=——
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

REVBRESHE

BE_T_=—Ff=HA=+—HLHEE

14. 9% - BERRE

Furniture,
Office Factory Plantand fixtures and Moulds Motor
buildings buildings ~ machinery  equipment and tools vehicles Total
BE#RE HR 2B
[5HS: £ IRNZ k% k#fE  BERIA RE At
HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT T T AT
COST AR
At 1 April 2021 RZF--FMA-A 1,019 76,234 270,096 83,838 18,358 6,771 456,316
Exchange adjustments HERE - 1,026 8,631 1,825 55 14 11,678
Additions ANE - - 5,008 6,274 1,252 370 12,904
Disposals/write-off e /Hik - - (4,346) (4,566) (346) 20) (9,278)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-Z-—%=fA=1-H
R=F=Z4mA-A 1,019 77,260 279,389 87,371 19,319 7,262 471,620
Exchange adjustments 5’\\&&@ - (2,668) (18,732) (5,451) (154) (254) (27,259)
Additions AE - 505 1,970 1,629 - 4,104
Disposals/write-off e /Hik = = (6,534) (2,240) (22) - (8,796)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=R=1-H 1,019 74,592 254,628 81,650 20,772 7,008 439,669
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT ~ #1& R R &
t1 April 2021 A\ZZ--%1A-A 1,019 61,681 262,851 70,176 15,800 6,120 417,647
Exchange adjustments SNERE - 673 8,066 1,759 49 133 10,680
Provided for the year TERAE - 2,160 3,322 5,912 1,500 360 13,254
Eliminated on disposals/write-off ~ H& /HRE A - - (4,290) (4,536) (345) 20) (9,191)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-Z-—#=A=1-H
R=2--%#NA-A 1,019 64,514 269,949 73,311 17,004 6,593 432,390
Exchange adjustments Mdﬁ% - (1,833) (17,047) (4,209) (105) (239) (23,433)
Provided for the year REERE - 1,068 2,475 3,347 763 327 7,980
Impairment loss recognised in ERARERS
profit or loss - 10,314 - 11,433 3,132 - 24,879
Eliminated on disposals/write-off ~ (H& /HRE#H 3 - - (6,476) (2,232) (22) - (8,730)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=R=1-H 1,019 74,063 248,901 81,650 20,772 6,681 433,086
CARRYING VALUES i
At 31 March 2023 AZEZ=%=A=1-H - 529 5,721 - - 327 6,583
At 31 March 2022 A\=Z--F=f=1-H = 12,746 9,440 14,060 2,315 669 39,230
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #Z S Bt & EEZE M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. 9% BMERREH

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

EREEYE BERRBINEEE
BERERE NIFRERETE

Office buildings and factory buildings PEBFRIRYE 4% or over the lease term, if shorter
4% R E B (NERRE)
Plant and machinery BV 15%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment FRE  HBERERE 20-33"/3%
Moulds and tools HARTEA 20-33"/3%
Motor vehicles E 20%
Impairment assessment RAE LG
In view of the adverse global business environment and EREIRIMHLEEIRET BPFERK
the abrupt downturn in sales performance arose from HEBARESDERHELXB2B T

weakened demand and customer sentiments, and some
purchase orders placed by customers were deferred or
cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2023, the
management of the Group concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment assessment on
certain property, plant and equipment during the year.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of property,

¥ BE_Z=F=A=+—HIF
B BAEP THA ER#EESTUE
AEBEEBRAFERETR X1
FARAHELYE  BERRKBET TR
B °

AREBGEFADE - BERERENAKE

plant and equipment based on higher of fair value less costs SHEAATEREHERARERAEEBEZ
of disposal and value in use. Ba& -

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment M BERZENAIKRESECRE
have been determined based on their value in use by using EFAEERHE145%MBRRETE -
a discount rate of 14.5%. The carrying amount of property, ME - BELKXREBENERAEBELERDE
plant and equipment are not reduced below the highest BEREAFEREERA HEREME

of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use and
zero and accordingly, an impairment of HK$24,879,000 has
been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Annual Report 2022/2023 —_ 2 - _—_F & _F—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

15. Right-of-Use Assets

REVBRESHE

E=m = =4 B == Ic5EE

15. FEEE

Leasehold Lands

HELH
HK$’000
FAET
CARRYING VALUES fRmEE
At 1 April 2021 N _—FHH—H 4,131
Depreciation charge WEEZEMA (183)
At 31 March 2022 A—E_—_F=A=+—H 3,948
Depreciation charge HEEH (183)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE_=F=A=+—H 3,765
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FA&T
Expense relating to short-term leases 4 HIFHEMNAEE R 4,154 3,986
Expense relating to leases of low-value KEEEEHENEBEEHA -
assets, excluding short-term leases TeEREEEEN
of low-value assets S HATA & 20 19
Total cash outflow for leases HENR SR sE 4,174 4,005

For both years, the Group leases several factory and office
buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed terms of 1 year to 912 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

15.

16.

Right-of-Use Assets (continueq)

The Group owns several factory buildings in the PRC where
its manufacturing plants and warehouses are primarily
located. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold land.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
premises. As at 31 March 2023, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$3,765,000 and HK$3,948,000 are
recognised, respectively. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Club Debentures

CARRYING VALUE FREE

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and A

31 March 2023

=—F

The club debentures with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no impairment indication was
identified with reference to market value.

SEPBHRESME

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

15. FAREEE »

AEEETEEAZERE  TE/RE
EREMERER - AEER/EEME
B (BEEREELH) 22 MESR
A o BRATER —RUENRIAKE L E
WEHER - AAEXNRIAREHA S
DEMBELT  ELEAVMENHES
AR D & 3 Bl 51 o

AEBEHRR/RMAZTILEHEE - 1
—EC=F=A=+—H EHHEA
EEREFPANEHEEXHRENEEHE
gH5MEEL -

HERHREZH
RZEZ=FR=F_—_F=A=+—
H: DRlERFEREEENIT6ESTH
TLN394E8THET - KiFAARFEMNA
EEEMERERI  HERZTHEM
FHRY - HEEETSBIEEERR
HIPE(R o

16. 8 & 3

HK$’000
FET
—FMHA—R T
ZA=+—BRk=ZE=_=F=HA
10,343
EHIRONEMESNEEERBERR

LEBRRBTRESERE - ARQF
EEREBEZEMHEER  BRAHREARE
BRER

Annual Report 2022/2023 —_E - _—_FZ _FE_=FF

135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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17. Inventories

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

R
L
B4R AR

18. Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables — sales of goods
Less: Allowance for credit loss

Other receivables (Note)

Total trade and other receivables

EWE ZEF—Em

B EEEERE

H o FE U SRR (M T )

FEY B BRI
H b fE U BR KA BR

Note: As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s other receivables mainly
include value added tax recoverable of HK$15,299,000
(2022: HK$14,043,000), which will be recovered within one

year.

As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$241,738,000.
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A
17. 78
2023 2022
—E-=F —EE = 4=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
10,007 23,099
9,717 18,654
21,342 53,741
41,066 95,494

18. EINE B IR K HAbEUR

=
EN
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FAET
73,266 165,973
(298) (386)
72,968 165,587
23,117 22,680
96,085 188,267
Hit: R-ZZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H &%

EmEamEREREZRTE,5298
OFTHBIL(ZE==4F : 1,40483F
B IL) Z ATUR B AT - A5 AR —

FAYE -

RZE-_—FHA—H ' BEFERIN
ARINEWERT A2184,17388TH T -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

18. Trade and Other Receivables 18. EWWE ZERF R HEY

(Continued) EN (&)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, NTREKREZEFRNHREBAERZH

presented based on the invoice dates: HAER ZIRRONT
2023 2022

—E=-= ol

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&r
0 - 90 days 0-90H 62,409 104,885
91 - 120 days 91-120H 4,827 16,466
121 - 180 days 121-180H 5,732 44,236
72,968 165,587

As at 831 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade

W-E-=#=A=+-8 A%REE

receivables balance are debtors with aggregated carrying WE ZEFBREEAES £22889 T
amount of HK$2,289,000 (2022: HK$22,584,000) which T(ZEZ=F : 2,25884FTBL)2E
are past due at the reporting date. Out of the past due AR - EEM B SRT - 1287

balances, HK$127,000 (2022: HK$67,000) has been past
due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default
because there had not been significant changes in credit
quality of the relevant debtors and the amounts are still
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

FAHET(ZE-=F : 687TEHT)ER
%90%%%%%?& AR AEEEF AN
EREELEEAELAMER /AT
| - lﬁtT?}ﬁ%ﬁEE%’\] o REE I EGE
ZEERT A EERG -

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other FE W E 5 B 51 T H A FE W BR 3 80 R B ET
receivables are set out in Note 28(b). A BRI E28(0)
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ROt

20.

Financial Assets at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:

Unit-linked funds BAEENES
Debt instruments BEBEITE

Investment in unit-linked funds represent pool investments,

comprising equity and debts securities in various markets.

Debt Instruments at Fair Value
Through Other Comprehensive
Income

Investment in listed debt instruments
with fixed interest rate from 3.37%
to 4.25% per annum (2022: 2.38%
to 4.25% per annum)

Analysed for reporting purposes as: WEDNA -
Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets IEMENEE

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 28(b).
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1QEﬂE§&“$Eﬁ§Z

SREERGIMBREREATEE
2023 2022
—E-= ===

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

5,876 14,010

1,473 6,274

7,349 20,284

BEERMB A3.37T%E4.25% A 2
EHEKIAKRE(Z
F:2.38%%24.25%)

= — —

=

RERBNEHAES  BIEKREA

& BESETSENREREBES -

0. Z A FEFTAHMEBEHR
mWEKEIA

2023 2022

—E-= =T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

9,191 8,659

1,529 8,659

7,662 -

9,191 8,659

RE A ISR K FE28(b) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

21. Short-Term Deposits/Bank
Balances and Cash

(a)

(b)

Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits of HK$115,632,000 (2022:
HK$93,254,000) are deposits with original maturity
of more than three months and the remaining
HK$252,052,000 (2022: nil) are deposits with
original maturity within three months. Short-term
deposits placed with banks or financial institution
are for investment purpose. The short-term deposits
carry fixed interest rates with effective interest rates
ranging from 1.60% to 4.88% (2022: 1.87% to
2.10%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which
range from 0% to 0.75% (2022: 0% to 0.8%) per
annum.

Details of impairment assessment of short-term
deposits and bank balances are set out in Note 28(b).

SEPBHRESME

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

1. BHER RITEER
BE

(a)

(b)

BEER
REFR1{E1,5638B2THT(=
T4 :93258B4T B L) AR
FHABBE=EAMNER  Hip2
B5,20582F B (=2 ==
RE)BREPEE=M@MAARNNTE
oo FHUITIRIT S B s /Y 52 Bf
FHRARKEER - 8BAFRIRE
ELRUEBEBEMEEFE - §8
B1.60%E4.88%(—_F ==
1.87%%E2.10%) °

RITHEERES
RITHEFEMISHEETE - £8
0% E0.75%(— T - —4F : 0%
%£0.8%) °

RHGTERRBITETREF LS
H I FE28(b) °
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22.Trade Payables

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date.

0-90 days
91-120 days
Over 120 days

The credit period on purchase of goods is ranged from 30

to 90 days.

23. Other Payables and Accruals

Salaries, wages and
staff welfare payable
Other payables and accruals

REMBHRES

B &£

GEoET =4S A= gr—EIEEE

22. EREZ R

BRI ©

REZZAMEINZERNEZERRZEK

2023 2022

—E-= ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
0-90H 50,216 80,333
91-120H 219 365
Hi®120H 805 1,832
51,240 82,530

KRB mERI OB EORZEEH -

23. B BR A K B R A

2023 2022
—EC-=F g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

EtEHE  ITENEES
& F 57,542 77,968
HoAth JE ST BR R R A R AN 18,883 26,055
76,425 104,023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

interest at 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) plus 0.8% per annum (2022: 1-month HIBOR
plus 0.8% per annum). As at 31 March 2023, the effective
interest rate on the Group’s borrowing is 4.05% per annum
(2022: 1.04% per annum).

As at 31 March 20283, bank loan of approximately
HK$15,789,000 (2022: approximately HK$20,913,000) is
secured by the Group’s investment properties with a fair
value HK$280,000,000 (2022: HK$285,000,00) (Note 13).

Annual Report 2022/2023 —_ 2 - _—_F & _F—

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE
24.Secured Bank Loan 24. BIEHBITER
2023 2022
—=E—-= it 2 i o
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
The carrying amounts of secured bank  FEFRITER » AIEEZ R
loan is repayable*: HE"
Within one year —FA 5,124 5,124
Within a period of more than one year LR —F - B TEA
but not exceeding two years N B S R 5,124 5,124
Within a period of more than two years ZHM4E - BT B8
but not exceeding five years A FHAE A 5,541 10,665
15,789 20,913
Less: Amounts due within one year B HBRRRBABZ
shown under current liabilities —FRNERTHE (5,124) (5,124)
Amounts shown under non-current FIEERIERBBE 2L
liabilities 10,665 15,789
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates * FffE R R ERmEMEZ
set out in the loan agreements. EEEHE -
The bank loan is variable-rate borrowing which carry RITERAEZHFR I EE  EFEXA

ERRTEERE(—MEA)IMN0.8%(=
To—F: BAERTAEKE(—MEA)
Mmoe%) R_E_=%F=A=+—
H AEBEREEFNEAE4.05%(=
ToF BEREEFHNER1.04%) °
RZTEZ=F=A=+—H " RTE
KEI,578EBQTHTL(ZEF : &
2,001 E3FT BT BEEKREET BN
MENQAFEA2(E8,0008FL(=F
T4 : 2188,5008 % 7T ) fEHE R (Pt 3
138) °

=FFH

141
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25. Deferred Taxation 25.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

EMBHRESME

= =S B = r=[EIEEE

I 3E B 18

MEEMBMRKRZEIME - HETE
ERBEERABDEE - UTRAR
MIBE2RE N RIERBEHRIMN

purposes:
Withholding
tax on
distributable
profit of Fair value
Accelerated  subsidiaries  changes on
tax  operating in investment
depreciation the PRC properties Total
B S 8 ) REME
mEHE AL EEF HATE
e ZBRH 25 ko)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT FET FHET
At 1 April 2021 N - —®FJMF—H (4,811) (4,300) (28,603) (37,720)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss RI8EER (F0E) 5t A (651) 1,643 (590) 402
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 WA —-F — —
=A=+—HBK
—E-—F/—H (5,462) (2,663) (29,193) (37,318)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss PIEZERET A (F5RD) 113 417 (56) 474
At 31 March 2023 RZZTZ=%
—A=+—H (5,349) (2,246) (29,249) (36,844)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$27,349,000 (2022:
HK$10,226,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

142 Allan International Holdings Limited S R B REBEEGR A 7

RARERR  AEEBEARBANH
HE B2, 73489 T B (===
1,022 & 6T /& 7T ) AT A LUK 85 R 2K &
F) o A 2 DAREE R R SRR - SR Bh
ZHEBERREEHIBEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

25. Deferred Taxation (continued) 25. REBIIE ()
Included in unrecognised tax losses of HK$5,482,000 BIEARERZHIAEE8EB2T AT
(2022: HK$1,915,000) will expire up to 2027 (2022: 2026). TECF ANBSTATIBR=ZE
Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. “HFRE( B F  ZFRF) e

26.

Hp i RE R A B ER A -

Under the EIT Law in the PRC and implementation BIERBEPCEMESREM © XA BEBEP
regulations issued by the State Council, withholding tax EMHEBEED  H_ZTEENEFE—F—
at 5% rate is imposed on dividends declared in respect BRA% - BB RRAEAFEm
of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January IREE Z IR B - LAS % RFEFO R i Rk o
2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has been fully provided B8 BT B A BIR B s I 9 R =
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of EFENELCHECRNESMEREA
temporary differences attributable to retained profits of the TR o

PRC subsidiaries.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Authorised:
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2023

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2021
Share repurchased and cancelled

At 31 March 2022
Share cancelled

At 31 March 2023

26. I A&
Number of shares HK$’000
R &= FET
FAEEO0.10/8 7T 2 T I%
JETE
RZEBE-_—FNMA—A8
—E-—F=ZA=+—H
—E-_=F=A=+—8H 600,000,000 60,000
BEEITRART
R-ZE-—FMWA—H 335,432,520 33,543
B4 [ B8 K 5 58 (2,278,000) (228)
R-ZE-_—_#F#=RA=+—H 333,154,520 33,315
M7 TE 8 (100,000) (10)
R-E-_=F#=fA=+—H 333,054,520 33,305
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26. Share Capital (continued)

27.

During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary
shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
as follows:

No. of ordinary

Month of shares of
repurchase Bo A5 HK$0.10 each
BREE

0.10/8 T

ZEEREEB

Jul 2021 T —%F+H 180,000
Aug 2021 A 652,000
Sep 2021 —ZE-—FNA 252,000
Oct 2021 —%ﬁ— F+A 402,000
Nov 2021 —F+—f 480,000
Dec 2021 :%:fiJr:ﬂ 120,000
Jan 2022 —E-—F—H 122,000
Feb 2022 —E--%—-A 70,000
Mar 2022 —E-—#=H 100,000

The above ordinary shares were cancelled upon
repurchase, except the shares repurchased in March 2022
were cancelled in May 2022.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net cash,
which includes secured bank loan disclosed in Note 24,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
other reserves and retained profits.
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HE-_ZT-_=F=-HA=+—HILFE
26. RZA< ()

RERN  RRRAIREBEABMERZMAR
AREEECHRETEER - FEAT
Price per share Aggregate

BRAE consideration
Highest Lowest paid
BE RiE EHERE
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FET
1.82 1.78 327
1.93 1.70 1,182
1.89 1.85 473
1.75 1.68 701
1.67 1.60 800
1.67 1.67 201
1.66 1.64 202
1.71 1.67 119
1.61 1.57 161
LT AREEREBERZE BR=F
::izﬁﬁ@%%%@%fgi:i

hAMEZH -

RERN - KRR RISEAE R E A R &

BE  HEXNERAQREMBKS -
27. EXEA B EE

AEBERER  FEBRAEEER

ARFEEAELYE  TEBBLLEBR

ﬁ% P RBRREREARHK - AEE
CEBRBBEFUR-—BERESTE -

AEBZEARBREFRRE 2K
ﬁfﬁﬁ% KR E24 % ER) - FRER

REFERARAREE AREEZD &
EP@%EE%EE??H&LK - B fE R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

27.Capital Risk Management (continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

28. Financial Instruments

a. Categories of financial instruments

%‘T’A

Bz

PR ¥RE E M

e = e Bl <

27. EXERER »

ARAEERFTERNEARE -EF
EREARARESREANRHEARE
REHZ B0  REARXFTEZTHNZE
& ARERBERANKRE - BITH
B BITHESKERREEE - KF
BMEBEEARE -

28. €T A

a. S®IAEH

2023 2022
—E=-= —F_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost TR ABIBR 2 & 628,657 670,831
Financial assets at FVTPL FRBmEATEE
TRIEE 7,349 20,284
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAEM 2 E YRS
WEBIA 9,191 8,659
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1R AR 2 R B & 72,021 109,603

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include
debt instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade receivables, other receivables, short-
term deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
payables, other payables and secured bank loan.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

b. HEEREZERBEREX

REBZFEZem T ABRERAF
Bt AHME2EKENEHTA -
BRBREATEFEZE/ME
E - EWE SRR - EMERER
A EHAGR  RITEBKERS -
EREZER  EMENERERRE
EIHRRITER - Z5eBTAFE
MEMTHEE - ZSER T EEH
Hﬁﬁ@%m%ﬂ 2 (B R - F

R EMERRERR)  EEE
|§/~A //\L@Jéiﬂﬁ/\ T X B R {r] f
BzFEFRBRIBEK - EEEBER
BEPERZ E R LA TR R e AN B U
REVEE 25
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28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. @ T B »)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEEBEEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)
Market risk % 2 B
Currency risk B E [
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign AN EHEHTE A B ASNEE 1T
currency sales and purchases and bank balance BENIBITET  FEBAIINE
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. 2\ o

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

RBERERE - REEAINEET

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities o EMEAERERAGB ZEEE
at the end of the reporting period are as follow: mr
Liabilities Assets
=K BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EZ=f T2 ZEBZ=f Z—T_—
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET FET FET
United States dollar ETT
(“UsD”) 1,148 1,206 409,152 426,032
Renminbi (“RMB”) AR - - 17,406 18,755
HK$ BT 143,485 92,360 534,607 480,581
Sensitivity analysis B E ST
The Group is mainly exposed to exchange rate AEFBFERZEL BLEAR
fluctuations of USD, HK$ and RMB against the BERSEBEERBIGEEY - BB
functional currency of respective group entities, Tk AREE ZEZ)FEFRAR - AR

which is either HK$ or RMB. As the HK$ is pegged
to USD, the management of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group’s exposure to USD relative to
HK$ is minimal and accordingly, no foreign currency
sensitivity analysis on USD is presented.
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28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. €W T H )
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEBEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 3% (2022: 3%) increase and decrease in functional
currency of respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies. 3% (2022:3%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end
for a 3% (2022: 3%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease
in post-tax loss where the functional currencies of
respective group entities weaken 3% against the
foreign currencies. A 3% (2022: 3%) strengthening of
the functional currencies of respective group entities
against the relevant currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the loss.

g ()
BRE T (&)
TERHVNARAKEHNSREE

BUWREE

TREB3%MBERE(=

3%) ° 3%

—E -4

WEXHBINSER b

= — —

=

1 3% ) A [A

MBS E R E B A BE RINE R A
RZ8RE  YRERELHEXA
REAEEH M -  REDONE

BIEAINEGE

i B R

B YRFERAREBREIR(ZF
TF 3%)ARBRANEE R 7
B o THIESERTROFREET -
HPREBERENEESEN AR
HNEEEEEE3% o M S EEERB B
B KRR SNE SR N s B ol
3%(ZFE=—4% :3%)
BEKBERERZZE -

Impact of HK$

BT E
2023 2022
—EZ=F —EZ-__-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T#ET
Loss for the year N E5iE 8,800 8,735

e E

Impact of RMB

AR HE
2023 2022
—EZ=f T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
436 470

The above is mainly attributable to the exposure to
short-term deposits, outstanding receivables and
payables at the year end.

ERFRREFERRAEENE
HTEAR - PR R N AN B R O L

k& -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continueq) 28. £ BT B »)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEEBEEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate short-term deposits,
debt instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at
FVTOCI.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate debt instruments at
FVTPL, secured bank loan (see Note 24 for details of
the loan) and bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate secured bank loan at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
secured bank loan outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 basis point (2022: 10 basis point)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
Variable-rate debt instruments at FVTPL and bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
directors of the Company consider that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-
rate is insignificant. The management also considers
the exposure of the fair value interest rate risk of
fixed-rate short-term deposits, debt instruments at
FVTPL and FVTOCI is insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 10 basis point (2022: 10
basis point) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase by
HK$13,000 (2022: post-tax loss decrease/increase
by HK$17,000. This is attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its secured bank loan.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
investments in unit-linked funds and other listed debt
instruments. The management considers these risks
are insignificant and therefore no sensitivity analysis
on such risks has been prepared. However, the
management will closely monitor such exposures and
consider hedging such exposures should the need
arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Trade receivables

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2023 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risk associated with its financial
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

28. €@ T A »)

[,

BERBREERERBE(E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 5 & fe Rt (B 77 (&)
(Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued) FEWE SRR (&)

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade receivables and the Group has been largely
dependent on a small number of customers for a
substantial portion of its business. The top three
customers represent over 79% (2022: 81%) of the
trade receivables as at 31 March 2023. The failure
of these customers to make required payment could
have a substantial negative impact on the Group’s
profits and liquidity.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables with significant
balances and credit-impaired individually and/or
collectively which are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s
internal credit ratings and aging of outstanding
balances.

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances and short-term deposits

The credit risk on bank balances and short term
deposits are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks in Hong Kong or financial institutions
with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rate, the 12m ECL on bank balances and short-
term deposits are considered to be insignificant and
therefore no loss allowance was recognised.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

The Group only invests in debt securities with
low credit risk. The Group’s debt instruments at
FVTOCI mainly comprise listed bonds and notes
that are graded in the investment grade as per
globally understood definitions and therefore are
considered to be low credit risk investment. The ECL
on debt instruments at FVTOCI is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other than concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables set out above, bank balances and short-
term deposits which are deposited with several
banks or financial institutions with high credit ratings,
the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description

ABEEFE  Ha

Low risk Reputable counterparty with low probability of
default, long and stable business relationship and
well established repayment pattern

ERR =8 Eﬂmﬁ%%iﬁﬁﬁﬁgimﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ

ENERFEA - BOHXHE

Normal risk The counterparty sometimes repays after due dates
but settle in full

— AR RHUFEREEIMARES  L2HER

Watch list The counterparty has lower default risk and usually
settle after due date

BELE RHUFHEARRREY RGN HALEER

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit

risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

i BRABIINFENESEAERRRED G
BmEEM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

BR BREBTREELREERNE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

e BERERTEBARNRENBRERAREER L

Eﬁ/ﬁﬁq&@i A
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28. €Wt T B »)
b. HEAREEEERIEH)

FEmBER B ETE(E)

%MT@%-
Trade receivables Other financial assets
EWE SRR HhemEE

Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12-month ECL
impaired

2HBRAEEER 12 ABHEEER
—FEERE

Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12-month ECL
impaired

HEHEEEFR 12 AEHEEEE
—FEERE

Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12-month ECL
impaired

2HESEEEE 12 AEHEEEE
—FEERE

Lifetime ECL - not credit-  Lifetime ECL - not

impaired credit-impaired
2HEHEERE 2HEHEEER
—EERE —FEERE
Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired impaired
2 HBRBEESHE 2HBRBEERE
—EERE —EERE
Amount is written off Amount is written off
bk WiHeE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 JETES
28. Financial Instruments (continueq) 28. €@t T A &)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b.

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:

Debt instruments at FVTOCI &AL EFAEM2HE

Investment of listed debt

instruments
Financial assets at

amortised cost
Trade receivables

Other receivables
Short-term deposits

Bank balances

RELTEBIA

ERERARTIR

External Internal

credit credit
Notes  rating rating

PMBEE ABEE
izt AR BE

20 A2 to Baal N/A

NEA
18 N/A Note
TER W&
18 N/A Low risk
iS ol ERER
21(a)  Aa N/A
NEA
21()  Aa N/A
NEA

Note: The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines
the ECL on a collective basis, grouped by internal

credit rating and past due status.
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f

12-month or
lifetime ECL
128RR2HEH
GEER

12-month ECL
NEAEHEERR

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)
THRBEEER
(GEEEHE)
12-month ECL

12ARESEEER

12-month ECL

12ARESEEER

12-month ECL
1NEARBEESE

5 i 7 48 4R 8 T 45 5 0B 5

Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount

2023 2022
BEEE 4ARAEE
2023 2022
—E-=E —Z--
HK$000  HK$000
FiEx FET
9,191 8,659

73,266 165,973

1,430 613

367,684 93,254

185,016 409,865

627,396 669,705
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REPBHRESME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE
28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. €W T H )
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEEBEEEERBE(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEEERBETE(E)
(Continued)
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the EEREBEEERREER — 3P
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers 2 0 Zﬁ%gﬂ?ﬁgﬁ' THELS
in relation to its operation. The following table HEER RIS BREAR ° Ti%h{
provides information about the exposure to credit risk ERERBAFESHEHEEEE
for trade receivables which are assessed based on a GEEERBE)NEBEZE-_E__FK
collective basis as at 31 March 2022 and 2023 within == == H = EERE e
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). ERTHOEKEREERRRE
HER °
2023 2022
—EC-= 2
Gross Gross
Average carrying Average carrying
Internal credit rating A= AR loss rates amount loss rates amount
THBRAE EHAE FHEAE FEAE
% HK$°000 % HK$'000
FAT FHET
Grade 1: Low risk E—H KRR 0.14 63,583 0.10 155,454
Grade 2: Normal risk Eg T@EER 217 9,671 2.15 10,510
Grade 3: Watch list B BREE N/A - 6.39 B
Grade 4: Doubtful EMg : BE 22.10 12 22.67 4
73,266 165,973
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on HFBEAXREREEBATERS®

expected default rates over the expected life of the
debtors with reference to published information
from credit agencies and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
provided HK$298,000 (2022: HK$386,000)
impairment allowance for newly originated trade
receivables that are assessed collectively and
reversed HK$386,000 (2022: HK$1,141,000)
impairment allowance due to full settlement of trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & B RS E M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

28. Financial Instruments (continueq) 28. €W T B »)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEBEEERBE(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEEERBETE(E)

(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables

under the simplified approach:

At 1 April 2021

Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 April 2021:
— Impairment losses reversed

New financial assets originated

At 31 March 2022

Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 April 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed

New financial assets originated

At 31 March 2023

TRETNCRABEDAEREEE
SEFNEMBEHREEEEZD

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2 HIFEHR
EEEE
(EEERME)
HK$'000
FA&T
AT —FMH—H 1,141
RZE-_—FNHA—BEER
SR T AZH
—BEUREERE (1,141)
EENFemEE 386
RZFZZF=A=1+—H 386
A—E__FIYA—HEER
TR T EEE)
— B ERESE (386)
EENTEREE 298
R-ZEZ_=f=A=+—H 298

Annual Report 2022/2023 —_E - _—_FZ _FE_=FF

155



REPBHRESME

HEom = =S A= =Bl IE5EE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables
are mainly due to:

28. €Wt T B »)
b. HEAREEEERIEH)
EREBRAETEE)

EUEEZEFNERRGHESH T E
AR

Increase (decrease) in
lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

EHRABEEBEREMGED)

(EEERE)
2023 2022
—EBZ=F —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
New trade receivable with gross FEWE ZEREFBERE
carrying amount of HK$73,266,000 /57,3266 T8 7T
(2022: HK$165,973,000) —=FE-—
1186,597&3F &) 298 386
Reversal from settlement in full of ol W E B RRFE
trade receivables with a gross HEHEREEBEAR
carrying amount of HK$165,973,000 1{£6,597 &3 T& T
(2022: HK$241,738,000) —=F_—
2184,17388F &) (386) (1,141)
Liquidity risk REBELEE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group TEEERDESRRE  NEBEE

monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. £ T B »)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b.
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

BEREBEEBREREE(E)

mEBELEE(E)

TRANAKEFITESREELZ
BRTANINHE - kRTVIBRBEARE
BERAIWEREECHBEZIRTF
BRIz AMRERSRERH - It
RBEMNERACHERE - 7B
MERZBHME -FEME - K
IR ESRILRE PRE 2 M EF

At

are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived =

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows

from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity tables THEELH
Weighted Carrying
average 3 months Total amount at
interest Less than to 1to 2to  undiscounted 31 March
rate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows 2023
EIZE
g #EEEE  ZA=t-R
A% SRR =ERE-E -§52F ZERRE it EEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEn 71 T FEn FEn
2023 3
Financial liabilities at ~ REHRKFIEZ
amortised cost SRER
Trade payables EREHER - 50,378 862 - - 51,240 51,240
Other payables EfpERER - 4,002 - - - 4,092 4,092
Secured bank loan-  EEARHEH 28
variable rate 4.05 1,438 4,232 5,461 5,672 16,803 15,789
56,808 5,004 5,461 5,672 73,035 72,021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

REPBHRESME
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28.Financial Instruments (continued) 28. €@ T A »)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEEBEEEERBE(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEREE(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) HEE2xK(E)
Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average Lessthan 3 months to Tto 2to  undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months 1 year 2 years Syears  cash flows 2022
il AMRERE A=A
THRE  SR=ER =ERE-§ —§¥Ezf CERRf it LEHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
AT AT AT T AT AT
2022 i S
Financial liabilities at ~ HEERATEZ
amortised cost tREE
Trade payables ERE 5% - 80,333 2,197 - - 82,530 82,530
Other payables RS - 6,160 - - - 6,160 6,160
Secured bank loan - EERRAER -8
variable rate 1.04 1,335 3,983 5,264 10,786 21,368 20,913
87,828 6,180 5,264 10,786 110,068 109,603
The amounts included above for variable interest rate )% B ERZFR W E AREE 28
bank loan are subject to change if changes in variable FIFIEREIRAER - G A LMRITE
interest rates differ from those estimates of interest RZGETAEzeBEEET -
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments c. BAVEHEZE&@IA

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets.

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements is observable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 s s = E S H R
28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. £ T B »)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments c. BATEFEZERMIAE)

(Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets () FAEEBWZHEELFER
and financial liabilities that are measured at THEERBELSEMEERE
fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) AFETE(E)

Fair value Valuation techniques and
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
SREE AYE AEEER HESTRBARE A BE
31 March 31 March
2023 2022

R-8-=f RN-B--%
=A=t-8 =A=t-H
HK$’000 HK$’000

Tz TAT
Unit-linked funds Level 2 Redemption value quoted by the
relevant investment funds with
reference to the underlying assets
of the funds
BB Ee FZR FRASRANBENBENREES
HREAE
- classified as financial assets at FVTPL 5,876 14,010
- NERERERRATEHE EREE
Listed debt securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
riEBES R REBTZMREER
- classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI 9,191 8,659
- PRREATEF AR M2 EREN
EBIA
- classified as financial assets at FVTPL 1,473 6,274
—-PRRERBREATEAEZ e REE
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 EMEANE —REE KA
during the both years. REBEEASRET -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEom = =S A= =Bl IE5EE

28. £ T R

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

ch Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(ii)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities, carried at amortised cost, are
determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models which is based on
discounted cash flows analysis using the
relevant prevailing market rates as input.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of the financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

29. Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) adopted on 8 August 2012 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors of the
Company and eligible employees, the directors and
employees of the Company may, at the discretion of
the directors of the Company, be granted options (the
“Options”) to subscribe for shares in the Company (the
“Shares”) at a price determined by its directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a
trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

20. BB AR & )

29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, and the number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
from the date of its adoption. Options granted must be
taken up not later than 28 days after the date of grant. A
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option. An option is exercisable on the
date when the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date
of grant of the options.

No options have been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption.

No share option scheme was adopted by the Company
subsequent to the expiration of the above share option
scheme.

WRABARARRBRELEAE - TEIBRE
BREABZETZRNERTSEBAR
NAMEA AR E HITRMDZ210% © K&
REM—FBTROBETEMNAL
TREBAARNMEMBFEE HTRN
Z1% °

BRETENERBRAAEERAER
EERERARFI0F ERTFZHER
ENAERR TR28RARE - ANMN1E
TEBERULEREZRE - EZHEA
ARERTTHE  RLEEREZENEAR
B MEEMRBER T TEENE L ER
B BT 106 o

BAEG & B IR U RL B TREBR

1 -

ZA/NCT b3 o D E DR 2N
M AERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

30. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising
From Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

REVBRESHE

B

E=m = =4 B == Ic5EE

0. METHELECEBYHER

TRFNAKEAME TS MELNE
EEY  BERASLIRCEY - BE
ABELNABBERZEFREREGLICK
KRSRHNAEEZERRSRER
POBERBREBDABRER

activities.
Interest Dividends
payable payable
included in included in Secured
other payable other payable bank loan Total
EAHE FEfT RS
(Bt AHA (Bt AHA BEH
ERER) EREXR) BITEX @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FET FETL
At 1 April 2021 RZZZ—%FmA—H - - 26,037 26,037
Financing cash flows BERSR (214) (83,758) (5,124) (89,096)
Dividend declared EERKRE - 83,758 - 83,758
Finance costs HEER 214 = = 214
At 31 March 2022 and R-E-—®#=F=1+—H
1 April 2022 R—E-_—_FWA—H - - 20,913 20,913
Financing cash flows BERER (491) (6,661) (5,124) (12,276)
Dividend declared EERKE - 6,661 - 6,661
Finance costs HKER 491 - - 491
At 31 March 2023 R-BE-=F#=A=+—H - - 15,789 15,789
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

31. Related Party Disclosures

Expense relating to short-term or low-value leases paid or
payable by the Group to its related parties are as follows:

Immediate holding company HEERAF
Allan Investment Company Limited TmITERRAT
Fellow subsidiaries EEX NG
Income Village Limited FEAR A A
Fair Pacific Limited BERR QG
Ardent Investment Limited HEREFR AR

Certain directors of the Company have controls in Allan
Investment Company Limited, Income Village Limited, Fair
Pacific Limited and Ardent Investment Limited.

The compensation of key management personnel consists
of directors’ remuneration as set out in Note 8.

The remuneration of directors of the Company is
recommended by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals, market trends and
conditions with a view to retain and motivate executives.

REVMBRESHE

B

E=m= =4S B == (5 Ile4EE

S1.EEALTIHE

AEBEMNREMNNEHNEERESR

RTBREALTLT

2023 2022

—E-=F —EFE-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
900 900
- 119
984 984
1,569 1,577

MORREENMREBRAA - #
HERRDAE BEARARRERRE
BRARBEGIE -

TEREEABZHERTENESMIICE

ARmEZzMEDRMERNALHR
B -mHEEBRER AFMHEZE SR
RiE@E - BRBEREBDITRABESE
REBMN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

REVBRESHE

GEoET =4S A= gr—EIEEE

32.Operating Leasing Arrangements 32.

The Group as lessor

All of the properties held by the Group for rental purposes

have committed leases for the next 1 to 3 years (2022: 1 to

4 years). Property rental income earned during the year was

HK$19,584,000 (2022: HK$20,451,000).

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as

follows:

Within one year

In the second year
In the third year

In the fourth year

33. Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and
equipment contracted for but not

provided in the consolidated financial

statements

—FA
EF
F=
Eukes

33.

ERFBEENE BFE R

B BREBERIL KRR
RAMBREENRE
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CEHRERH
AR A

S5 E G 10 A KA R R R R
BRR-B=FRO(-F==F —F

ME) - FRYWEHR S WA E1,95884
THET(ZZT=—4F :2,04581FH8T) °

BEFHNHEHERKMBEEMSFOT

2023 2022
—E-=F == —4=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
18,018 21,076
12,718 17,778
7,841 12,941
- 8,387
38,577 60,182
B AR IE

2023 2022

—E-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
- 1,666




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

34. Retirement Benefits Schemes

The subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong participates in
both an ORSO Scheme and a MPF Scheme. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
but in funds under the control of independent trustees.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions from
employees of 5% of their salaries. The employers will
contribute based on the monthly salaries of employees
according to the following schedule:

SEPBHRESME

HEmms =E s B = =8| e5EE

4. RIREFFHE

FEMBE AR EMEEEMRRGE
RIEDFF BN BREEAE - ZFFHEE
ERAKBEESDARTE  AHEE
HETEAMEGZBLESREA -

2NREEFEZEE  BARKAA
B25% ° BERBRBEATES K ES
HEREHRZ 8

Rate of

contribution

Number of completed years of service 52 X AR 7% 5 HA =
Not more than 5 years DRAF 5%
More than 5 years but not more than 10 years ZRAEEBITZR+E 7.5%
More than 10 years ZRTF 10%

The employees are entitled to the full benefit of the
subsidiaries’ contributions and accrued returns after
participating in the ORSO Scheme for 10 years or more, or
at an increased scale of 30% to 90% after participating in
the ORSO Scheme from 3 to 9 years respectively. Where
an employee leaves the employment prior to becoming
fully entitled to the employer’s contributions, the excess
contributions are forfeited and the employer may utilise the
forfeited contributions to reduce its future contributions.
As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, the Group had no
material unutilised forfeited contributions in the ORSO
Scheme which may be used to reduce the Group’s future
contributions.

2MAEFTERTF2EE  J2E
ZEMBARAEE M 2 HREREH
REE - BE2MEHR/IZEIF ' EE
1BZHI0%ZE0%EFE < N - e
BRAREEENE IR HRATEE: - A
ZEHRE TR - MEEAERMSE
W HHIMBEABREN ZHER - RZF
TZHERZEZ=F=A=+—H ' &
SEREERLWMHERAIEN R B 1& 8
HEFGER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BESET = A== IEEE

34. Retirement Benefits Schemes

34. BKRBRIFTE

(Continued)

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged
18 to 65 and with at least 59 days of service under the
employment in Hong Kong. The Group contributes at the
lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs monthly to the MPF
Scheme, subject to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per
month for each employee, which contribution is matched
by employees.

The employees of the subsidiaries operating in the PRC
are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The
contributions for the scheme in the PRC are made based
on a percentage of the average salary as advised by
the relevant authority in the PRC. The contributions are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
The subsidiaries operating in the PRC also contributed
to a local municipal government retirement scheme for
all qualified employees in the PRC. The employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the rates specified in the rules.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement schemes in the PRC is to make the retired
contributions under the schemes. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.
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Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March
2023 and 2022, all of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

35. Particulars of Subsidiaries

of the Company, are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE
Allan Electric Mfg., Limited

DREXRERRAT

Allan International Limited *

Allan Mould Manufacturing Limited
DR IESERRAR

Allan Plastic Mfg Limited
EREBBERAR

Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited
EWEH(FR)ERAHA

BRIFHREMNERAT

EXIX(BR)BR

]
ol

RYTRENRAR AR LA
(Note a)
(KizEa)

Place of incorporation
or establishment
operations

EMBRYL E xS

Hong Kong
&k

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
ERRLER/ B

Hong Kong/the PRC

&E/PE

Hong Kong
&b

Hong Kong

&R

The PRC *
TE

The PRC *
T

The PRC *
TE

REVMBRESHE

ES b e o | == mpe B gk 2

35. B A BB

Issued and fully paid share capital or
registered capital
BRTRBRRASEMER

100 ordinary shares and 50,000 non-voting

deferred shares

1008k 3% %.50,0000% ERZEE TR

55,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 each
55,000k BRAEIETZ LB

100 ordinary shares
100/ & @ik

3,005 ordinary shares
3,005/ & Bk

270,000 ordinary shares

270,000 & @M%

Registered capital of USD49,600,000
i1 & 449,600,000% T

Registered capital of HK$75,000,000
S 275,000,000/ 7

Registered capital of RMB30,000,000
(2022: RMB25,000,000)

FERARE30,000,0007(ZE=24%:

AK#25,000,0007C)

Annual Report 2022/2023 —

b ==
RZE
AR ad 5 mm

—ECCEETCC

CEEREEE S ==
B ARAFRZHBAR @ 2EHAERD
RIZEEWBA

GRS E UM

Principal activities

IRER

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

RERR

Manufacturing of plastic
injection moulds
EEBBIZEA

Property holding and trading of
household electrical appliances

RENFLHEFERR

Investment holding
REA R

Property holding and manufacturing of
household electrical appliances and
plastic parts

RENFRAEZERRREBEN

Manufacturing of household electrical
appliances and plastic parts
EEZEERREBTH

Trading of household electrical
appliances
HEXEES

FER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT-_=F=A=+—RHLEFE

35. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continuead) 35. B A R=FEE @)

Place of incorporation

or establishment Issued and fully paid share capital or
Name of subsidiary operations registered capital Principal activities
WEATER EMSAL/ 54  ERTRBRRARZMEL IERH
Artreal Manufactory Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
HETEBRAA 6 2R LR appliances
HEXEES
Conan Electric Manufacturing Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
Limited BE 2R LB appliances
FREXHEBRAT HEREES
Ever Sources Investment Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares Inactive
(Note b) &k 1008 & B TEEH
SRREBRAA (Hztb)
Good Eagle Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share Investment holding
EEREARAR &k 1R E AR REER
Great Yield Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share Trading of household electrical
RIEBERAR BE 1RE AR appliances
HEXEES
ERTREBERELARAR The PRC ¢ Registered capital of HK$100,000,000 Manufacturing of household electrical
e & 7100,000,0007 70 appliances and plastic parts
EEREERREBEM
HETERR(EMBBAA(Notec) ThePRC* Registered capital of USD3,500,000 Manufacturing and trading of
et TERB(EM)BRAR (fizke) + A A3,500,000% T household electrical appliances and
plastic parts
EERHERERE REBTH
Karan Electric Manufacturing Limited  Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
RREXHEFRAA i 100 BR appliances

HEXEES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & B RS E M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 e Yt e = I e [

35. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continuead) 35. B A R=HEE @)

Place of incorporation

or establishment Issued and fully paid share capital or
Name of subsidiary operations registered capital Principal activities
WEAFER RAUET WA} BRETRBRRASEMES TTER
New Prestige Investments Limited *  Hong Kong 1 ordinary share Property investment
B TREBR BRNE
Ngai Shing (Far East) Plastic & Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and 54,000 non-voting  Property holding
Metalwares Factory Limited B deferred shares BENE
BR(ER)ERLEHARAR 100 &M %54, 000R &£ ZEELRH
Progress Associates Limited * British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of USD1 Investment in securities
Hong Kong RAEIETZ EBR BHRE
RBRAEE/BR
Total Profits Limited British Virgin Islands/ 2 ordinary shares of USD1 each Investment holding
Hong Kong oREEIE T LR RERR
RBRAEE/BR
Warran Electric Manufacturing Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares Inactive
Limited (Note d) &k 100 & Bk TEXB
ERIZYERRAA (M)
Well Sincere Investment Limited * Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Investment holding
BARERRAA B4 o AR
*  Direct subsidiaries * BEENBAR
# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in the PRC # 2EINEBEERE
Notes: BtaE -
(@)  The subsidiary was formerly known as BEMTEEE 5 ER () ZTFRAFRZAMEBABEMNMTEZESR
NI SERRA -
(b)  The subsidiary was deregistered on 1 April 2021. b) ZFRANR-_ZE-_—FMA— BTl
FEff
(c)  The subsidiary was deregistered on 30 December 2021. (c) ZFARR_E-_—F+-_HA=+H
LS -
(d)  The subsidiary was disposed on 29 September 2021. d ZFRARR—_ZE-_—FNA-_1+NH
HE °
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at NELR B AR ERITEMEEE
the end of the year. 5 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & BI & & E Mtz

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BESET = A== IEEE
36. Statement of Financial Position 36. X AT MRRKRKEFEE

and Reserves of the Company

2023 2022
—=E-= ===

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IREBEE
Property and equipment L E YL 538 4,106
Interests in subsidiaries RIEENGIE 3 75,319 75,319
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU K B A R 5RIR 121,068 133,085
Deferred tax asset EIEFTIIEE E 340 344
Club debenture 2HTES 10,030 10,030
207,295 222,884

CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables H 1th fE Y BR X 2,372 2,098
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL B /B A R 7B - 218
Tax recoverable FERFHIR 322 -
Short-term deposits y SRR E R 245,808 9,047
Bank balances and cash RITEHER S 5,898 176,984
254,400 188,347
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE

Other payables and accruals H b B~ BR 3K N FE S R A5 5,009 6,688
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESTH B A R FRIE 15,056 3,828
Tax liabilities mEaE - 69
20,065 10,585
NET CURRENT ASSETS BARBEE 234,335 177,762
NET ASSETS EEFE 441,630 400,646

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERK#1E
Share capital N 33,305 33,315
Reserves s 408,325 367,331
441,630 400,646
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R & B RS E M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 e Yt e = I e [
36. Statement of Financial Position 36. XA R MR R TR #ME
and Reserves of the Company (%)
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves NEIHERE
Capital Capital
Share redemption contributed Retained
premium reserve surplus profits Total
R (&N
R4 & ME B B {8 AR REEF ok

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THT TH#T THT THT THT

At 1 April 2021 RZZZ—FmMA—H 109,884 793 28,230 312,377 451,284

Profit and total comprehensive A% E % H &

income for the year FENE AR - - - 3,743 3,743
Dividends recognised as ERIED KRS

distribution - - - (83,758) (83,758)
Shares repurchased and R 188 e st 8

cancelled (8,761) - - - (3,761)
Shares repurchased but Bt EEEE

not yet cancelled H A - (155) - - (155)
Transaction costs attributed to ~ J&17 EIEEE)52 5 Ak A

repurchase of shares (16) (6) - - (22)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_&#=A=+—H 106,107 632 28,230 232,362 367,331

Profit and total comprehensive — AF & Fl| K&

income for the year FHENELBTE = - - 47,645 47,645
Dividends recognised as fERIED IR 2R E

distribution - - - (6,661) (6,661)
Shares cancelled R 170 [21 B8 1EL 1 K R 8 (151) 161 = = 10
At 31 March 2023 RZBE-=F=A=+—H 105,956 793 28,230 273,346 408,325
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Financial Summary

MBME

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities  T&XR#&% T AEBHE _ T _=F=A=+—
of the Group for the five years ended 31 March 2023.

Revenue

(Loss) profit before tax
Taxation

(Loss) profit for the year

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

EXE

B AT (&5 18 ) i A1
BB

RERE (BB &N

B

v
/

mh
E
CR}

\
’

BEFE

RLERBEFEFENRE BEREE-

For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=t—-RALFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=HE —E-—-fF T Z—ZE-TFE —ZT-NE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
413,332 783,192 909,466 982,835 1,209,200
(60,705) (21,344) 54,541 (12,787) 33,852
(1,348) (5,651) (8,139) (5,377) (5,7393)
(62,053) (26,995) 46,402 (18,164) 28,119
At 31 March

R=A=+—8H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —To-F —T-—F —T-TE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FEr FET FET
1,248,881 1,412,550 1,583,924 1,474,772 1,496,758
241,542 310,003 378,930 308,413 362,888
1,007,339 1,102,547 1,204,994 1,166,359 1,133,870
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